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Corporate Profile £ & &

2

CARRY WEALTH HOLDINGS LIMITED

manufactures and trades garment products for internationally
renowned brand names and engages in securities investment. The
Group has production facilities in Mainland China.

Headquartered in Hong Kong, Carry Wealth Holdings Limited has
been listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited since 2000.

The Chinese name of the Company means “enduring prosperity”.
The Group is committed to maximizing the return of its
shareholders for their ongoing support.
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Executive Directors

Mr. Li Haifeng (Chairman & Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Wan Ke (Vice President)”

Mr. Tang Chak Lam, Charlie*

Non-Executive Director
Mr. Lee Sheng Kuang, James

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Yau Wing Yiu

Mr. Zhang Zhenyi

Ms. Zheng Xianzhi

Audit Committee

Mr. Yau Wing Yiu (Committee Chairman)
Mr. Zhang Zhenyi

Ms. Zheng Xianzhi

Remuneration Committee

Mr. Yau Wing Yiu (Committee Chairman)
Mr. Wang Ke”

Mr. Zhang Zhenyi

Ms. Zheng Xianzhi

Mr. Tang Chak Lam, Charlie*

Nomination Committee

Mr. Li Haifeng (Committee Chairman)
Mr. Yau Wing Yiu

Mr. Zhang Zhenyi

Ms. Zheng Xianzhi

Investment Committee

Mr. Li Haifeng (Committee Chairman)
Mr. Wang Ke”

Mr. Tang Chak Lam, Charlie*

Company Secretary
Ms. Lau Yee Wa

Auditor
PricewaterhouseCoopers
22nd Floor, Prince’s Building
Central, Hong Kong

* Ceased appointment on 1 January 2018
" Appointed on 19 March 2018

PITEE

FRASE (EERITHAER)
IREE (BB
BB

EPITEE
Fhi kL

BIAEPITESE
EBox B 7 &
SRR ST
BrEERL

EXESE

BxBEE (ZEELE)
RIRE ST

BrEERL

FWEET

ERoKBEE (ZEELE)
EREE

RIRE ST

BrEERL

BPERR A

REBEEST

FRMEE (ZEELE)
EBox B 7 &

SRR ST

BrEERL

REZSE
FRMEE (ZEELE)
FREE

WERE”

ATRE
BamELt

= R Em

7 FRUKGE & R AP 75 P
FRTIR

KFRE2218

*

—NF—H—B#EIEZT
NFE=ZAFNAEZE

R
CRZ

= —
=
= —
=

Annual Report 2017 FE#RE

3



IN
N

Corporate Information 2 & & ¥l

Principal Bankers
China CITIC Bank International Limited
Standard Chartered Bank

Principal Share Registrar and
Transfer Agent

MUFG Fund Services (Bermuda) Limited
The Belvedere Building

69 Pitts Bay Road

Pembroke HMO08, Bermuda

Branch Share Registrar and Transfer
Agent in Hong Kong

Tricor Abacus Limited

Level 22, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong

Registered Office
Clarendon House, 2 Church Street
Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda

Head Office and Principal Place of
Business in Hong Kong

Suite 2001, 20/F

Shui On Centre

6—-8 Harbour Road

Wanchai, Hong Kong

Tel: (852) 2310 8180

Fax: (852) 2310 8797

Website
www.carrywealth.com

E-mail Address
info@carrywealth.com

Stock Code
643

Board Lot Size
10,000 shares
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Information for Shareholders and Investors R E & & E &=

Results Announcement Date
Interim results

21 August 2017 (Monday)
Annual results

22 March 2018 (Thursday)

Financial Calendar

Deadline for lodging share transfer documents for
entitlement to attend and vote at Annual General Meeting
10 May 2018 (Thursday)

at 4:30 p.m.

Closure of register of members
11 May 2018 (Friday) to
16 May 2018 (Wednesday)

Annual General Meeting
16 May 2018 (Wednesday)
at 10:00 a.m.

Shareholder Enquiries

Any matters relating to your shareholding, such as transfer of
shares, change of address, loss of share certificates, should
be addressed to the Branch Share Registrar and Transfer
Agent in Hong Kong, contact details of which are set out as
follows:

Tricor Abacus Limited

Level 22, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong
Tel: (852) 2980 1333

Fax: (852) 2890 9350
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Financial Highlights B 7% i8 &

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY AFEUBRE

Results

E 3

Year ended 31 December
BE+-A=+—HLEE
2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
—F—tE T ARF_ZT—HF _FT—NF _T—=F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHRT  TAx  TEx FEx FTaxn

Revenue

Loss attributable to
equity holders of the
Company

Assets and liabilities

I 7= 244,590 123,105 120,695 153,176 145,838
RNB DR
BAEHEE
(29,956) (49,719) (37,983) (14,724) (30,216)
EERERE
As at 31 December
W+=-—H=+—8
2017 2016 2015 2014 2013

—E—tE T R"FEF_T"RHF_ZT—NF _ZT—=F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$’'000 HK$’ 000
F#T FET FAET FAET FET

Total assets
Total liabilities

Total equity

BB E 276,553 268,305 315,102 357,103 233,120
waeE (74,109)  (40,112)  (34,474)  (43,007) (39,688)
AR 202,444 228,193 280,628 314,096 193,432

6 Carry Wealth Holdings Limited 1EE 2R E R 7
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REVENUE
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2017 2016 Changes
—F—-t&E —ZT—XF ZIRE
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FTERT FEL
Operating results EEXER
Revenue g 244,590 123,105 98.7%
Gross profit/(loss) EF,/(48) 40,078 (229) -17,601.3%
Loss attributable to equity holders of ~ AR F#EzFH AELEE
the Company (29,956) (49,719) -39.7%
Financial position at year end RERZHBRR
Properties, plant and equipment EN L 51,890 50,263 3.2%
Cash and cash equivalents RekBHeFEER 67,456 21,534 213.3%
Net current assets MEEEFE 107,521 150,742 -28.7%
Total assets BEE 276,553 268,305 3.1%
Borrowing BX 5952 N/ATEA NATER
Total liabilities raf’ 74,109 40,112 84.8%
Capital and reserves attributable to ARRERFAEAEIEZ
the Company’s equity holders BEARRF#B 202,444 228,193 -11.3%
Per share information BRER
Basic and diluted loss per share BREAREEESE
(Hong Kong cents) (L) (3.66) (6.08) -39.8%
Capital and reserves attributable to FREAAFERFEA
the Company’s equity holders per FElE2BERRFE
share (Hong Kong cents) (7AL) 24.7 27.9 -11.3%
Ratio analysis LR
Profitability EFKE
Gross profit/(loss) margin EF/(B) =% 16.4% (0.2%) 16.6%
Net loss margin FEEX (12.2%) (40.4%) 28.2%
Return on the Company’s equity ARAEERHBEAE2O®W
holders (14.8%) (21.8%) 7.0%
Liquidity RER AR
Current ratio U 2.6 5.6 -53.6%
Gearing ratio* BEXRA B & (30.4%)  N/ATiEF N/A i
Operating efficiency RS
Inventory turnover period (days) FERE (BE) 67 71 -5.6%
Trade receivable turnover (days) BHREWFIERE (HE) 52 46 13.0%
Trade payable turnover (days) BoRNFERE (AZ) 49 39 25.6%

*  As at 31 December 2016, the Group did not have bank borrowing.

8 Carry Wealth Holdings Limited 1EE 1R AR X T
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Chairman’s Statement £ FE R %

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of Carry
Wealth Holdings Limited, | hereby present the annual
report of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the
“Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2017.

As the new year was ushered in, there were major fears
about 2017 including the arrival of a new administration
in the US that would trigger a market crash; collapse of
the Eurozone resulting from the Italian banking crisis; and
a Brexit-induced recession in the UK. All of these fears
proved to be unfounded. In fact, the global economy found
its post-crisis footing in 2017 as the majority of developing
economies were able to make positive gains. The Eurozone,
for example, defied naysayers by expanding 2.5% - its
biggest increase in a decade — up from 1.8% in 2016. As for
the United States, the real GDP growth rate reached 2.3%
in 2017, up from 1.5% in 2016, according to estimates by
the Bureau of Economic Analysis, while the unemployment
rate declined from 4.7% to 4.1% during the same period.
What has been most dramatic; however, were the bullish
stock markets. With the Dow Jones Industrial Average
climbing 25.1% higher in 2017 - hitting 71 record closes
during the year, the S&P 500 gaining 19.4% and the Nasdaq
Composite Index rising 28.2%, all three achieved their
best year since 2013. Such surges reflected a resurgent
US economy and jump in corporate profits, as well as tax
cuts signed by President Trump that will ultimately result in
billions saved by corporate America.

With record gains from the bullish stock markets help raising
household wealth, and with home prices increasing during
the year, consumer confidence strengthened significantly.
This optimism was reflected by the consumer confidence
index which hovered near the highest level in 17 years.
Given such favourable conditions, we duly intensified
our focus on tapping the US market for our garment
manufacturing and trading segment. Indicative of our sales
team’s tremendous and fruitful efforts, revenue from the US
market rose by 85.5% to HK$139.7 million for the year, with
total revenue amounting to HK$229.3 million, representing
an exceptional year-on-year increase of 72.2% from
HK$133.1 million in 2016. Segment profit totalled HK$0.6
million versus a segment loss of HK$12.1 million.

AAZBRREEEZEBRERRAAESS
(IBEFEREARARENEBE R A
(I AERBEE—_T—+F+_HA
=t -RLEFEZFERE -

BEF —EXE —T—+FENTEE
EREERFBA 2 EEBSI A
EAFETEREERR TR SR &
BB GEEREREERER TAE
B EBWERICAEZR-BE L&
MARZHERPLEEH RIS ERK
m BEREERESEEREN T —+
FRB-Hl BtREEERE2.5%"
BT XNFEZ1.8% KBRS 51
FREAEE BT TERE -LERM
= RBEESMB 2 BERERE
ERERERN T —RF21.5%EE
T+ F723% MR Z KERE
HA4.7%[EE41% AT BB R A
R LR BB T % F193
RN Tt FRA25.1% RFRE
T71ER M4 - MiREER500388 &
METZE AR A B EAI D B ER19.4% &
282% Z - REHWHVERBE_T—=
FURZHZERR - ZERHEOAA X
MEBRKGCEERRCXMNBEZELER
RSB E @R RBRNRBERE R
ABEBRTCEHEHTEEXT

HRUFTENERRENE /1
M BEEEBRFALEKR SHEBEE
DAREA - HMREABEEERED
EBEITEFRN SR ZER LS
EABEH BRMEZENE IR AKX
BENEZDBHABEEZRMS N
FE SarEMESsER 2 MBS
N REEBRMIEG 2 WL IN85.5%F
—BZFhLhEaE+BEE L AkasiE
“RERZFABE=ZTEET BR=-_Z—X
Fr—RB=ZF=ZB—+EBTRLKIE
WR722% ez HBaMeEHB~TE
B mMEFERBRABE-—FT=Z8—1
BATT

Annual Report 2017 E£E#H & 9



Chairman’s Statement &%

In respect of the securities investment segment, we were
able to realise gains from most of our stocks during the first
half year. However, in view of rising volatility in the Hong
Kong market, the Group elected to dispose most of its listed
stocks to realize the fair value gains. The resources that have
been collected will be used on our business diversifications,
the principal goal is to generate sustainable long-term
returns.

Our openness to explore opportunities enabled us to
diversify from our traditional business, we are active in
exploring and investing in new businesses which show
good development potential. In line with our diversification
strategy, in June 2017, we subscribed shares of United
Security Solutions International Limited (“USS”) and
now holds 41.45% equity interest in the company. USS
is principally engaged in providing security and crisis
management services to the public and private sectors.

GOING FORWARD

In 2018, the US is expected to continue to have a Goldilocks
economy where expansion will neither be too hot nor too
cold, with GDP growth at between 2% and 3%. As for the
Eurozone, GDP growth is also predicted to remain at a
similar level as 2017, though the rise in value of the Euro
against the US dollar; less stimulus from the European
Central Bank; and possible deterioration of Brexit talks, all
may create headwinds.

While market conditions are always uncertain, both the
US and the Eurozone are expected to fare well in the new
year, as most of the world’s economies. According to the
International Monetary Fund, global growth is forecasted to
reach 3.9% for 2018 and 2019, having been revised upward
by 0.2 percentage point. The revision is to reflect increasing
global growth momentum and the expected impacts of tax
policy changes in the US, stated the organisation.

/I O Carry Wealth Holdings Limited 1EE 1R AR X T
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Chairman’s Statement ¥ &%

We will therefore continue to focus on tapping the US and
European markets in terms of bolstering our garment and
manufacturing businesses. At the same time, we will closely
explore opportunities, irrespective of regions, that enable us
to continue our diversification drive. Regarding the securities
investment segment, we will continue to monitor market
conditions and replenishing our portfolio when deemed
appropriate. Given our strong financial health, dedicated
staff and experienced management team, we trust that our
pursuit of sustainable long-term development will be realised
in the future.

APPRECIATION

At this time | would like to extend my sincerest appreciation
to my fellow directors and the entire Carry Wealth workforce
for their commitment, diligence and contributions to the
Group during the past year. | wish to also express my
gratitude to all of our customers, suppliers, business
partners and shareholders for their unwavering support.

Li Haifeng
Chairman

22 March 2018
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Management Discussion and Analysis & 12 & 51 & & 2

RESULTS AND BUSINESS REVIEW

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group’s revenue
amounted to HK$244.6 million (2016: HK$123.1 million) and
gross profit was HK$40.1 million (2016: gross loss HK$0.2
million). Loss attributable to equity holders was HK$30.0
million (2016: HK$49.7 million). The basic and diluted loss
per share were both 3.66 HK cents (2016: both 6.08 HK
cents).

During the year under review, the US economy continued
to strengthen with unemployment rate hitting 17-year low.
Corporate earnings in the US were stronger than expected
and some companies promised their employees bonus and
salary increment. In Mainland China, although the GDP
growth rate in 2017 was slightly higher than government
projection, issues such as excessive leverage, local
government debts, as well as structural problems including
an aging population and shrinking labour supply prevailed.
While in the Eurozone, stimulated by monetary policy, its
19-country economy was the strongest in close to seven
years. Seizing rising business opportunities in the West, the
Group’s revenue from garment manufacturing and trading
business increased by 72.2% to HK$229.3 million (2016:
HK$133.1 million). Gross profit margin of the business
increased by 3.4% to 10.8% (2016: 7.4%) and the gross
profit surged to HK$24.8 million (2016: HK$9.8 million).

Stimulated by strong corporate earnings, gradual interest
rate hikes and the tax reform in the US as well as improved
global economic data, leading stock markets rebounded
with value hitting record high during the year under review.
The Hang Seng Index climbed 7,919 points and closed
at 29,919 points in 2017 (2016: 22,000 points). For the
year ended 31 December 2017, the Group’s securities
investment business recorded positive revenue and gross
profit of HK$15.3 million (2016: negative revenue and gross
loss of HK$10.0 million).

/I 2 Carry Wealth Holdings Limited 1B 1R AR X T
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During the year under review, as a result of the Group’s
effort to trim costs and benefiting from boosted economy
of scale in production, the ratio of selling expenses to
revenue from garment manufacturing and trading dropped
to 2.0% (2016: 2.2%) and administrative expenses slightly
increased to HK$42.3 million (2016: HK$42.1 million). The
Group shared an operating loss of HK$5.3 million (2016:
HK$3.6 million) from its investment in a joint venture. The
joint venture sells and develops smart card application
products used for non-cash payments in Mainland China.
After similar Applications were launched by WeChat pay
and Alipay in major Mainland China cities in the second
half of 2017 and the fierce competition from other market
participants, the business environment became extremely
difficult for the joint venture. As at 31 December 2017, in
view of significant decline in operating results compared
with budget, deteriorating liquidity condition, continuous
net operating cash outflow and the net liabilities of the joint
venture, an impairment loss provision of HK$15.6 million was
made by the Group to reduce the Group’s investment in the
joint venture to the recoverable amount.

Segmental Analysis
a) Garment manufacturing and trading segment

In the year under review, the Group’s factory in Heshan,
Mainland China accounted for its entire garment
production.

During the year under review, macroeconomic data
in the US were positive. Consumer spending, which
accounts for more than two-thirds of US economic
activity, increased by 3.8% in the fourth quarter of 2017,
the fastest since 2014. Seeing solid signs of continuous
economic growth in the US, the Group adjusted its
business strategy and actively sought to capture
business opportunities from the US market. During the
year under review, revenue from US customers increased
by 85.5% to HK$139.7 million (2016: HK$75.3 million),
accounting for 60.9% (2016: 56.6%) of the segment
revenue.
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As for Mainland China, the economy was generally stable
in the review year. However, with tight financial policies
implemented, customer demands had cool down. With
customers highly price sensitive and competition fierce
among domestic players, the Group faced challenge in
negotiating for reasonable prices with customers so as
to maintain its margins. Given the growing opportunities
in the West, the Group has shifted its focus and efforts
to overseas markets. During the year under review,
there was no revenue generated from Mainland China
customers (2016: HK$19.1 million).

In the Euro-zone, the fear of populist leaders winning key
elections subsided and economic recovery in the region
continued during the year under review. Furthermore,
with the European Central Bank extending its asset
purchase programme till September 2018 to stimulate
the regional economy, both consumption and business
sentiments continued to improve. As a result, revenue
from European customers increased by HK$36.3 million
to HK$64.0 million (2016: HK$27.7 million) which
accounted for 27.9% (2016: 20.8%) of the segmental
revenue.

Thanks to the prompt response of the Group to market
conditions and the concerned efforts of its staff, revenue
from the garment manufacturing and trading segment
recorded a significant 72.2% increase to HK$229.3
million (2016: HK$133.1 million) and the segment profit
amounted to HK$0.6 million (2016: loss of HK$12.1
million).

Carry Wealth Holdings Limited 1EE 1R AR X T
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b) Securities investment segment

The Hang Seng Index rose by 36.0% compared with
year 2016 and closed at 29,919 points in 2017 (2016:
22,000 points). The significant gain in 2017 was owed
to a number of factors. Improved corporate earnings
and solid global economic growth saw leading stock
markets including that in Hong Kong advanced to higher
levels. That plus increasing mainland funds streaming
southbound into the Hong Kong stock market via the
Stock Connect schemes and the stabilised Mainland
China economy, the Hang Seng Index had climbed and
briefly reached above 30,000 points in 2017, the first
time in a decade. Taking advantage of the better Hong
Kong stock market conditions, the Group realised most
of its holding in the year under review. The Group’s
securities investment recorded a fair value gain of
HK$15.0 million (2016: loss of HK$11.7 million) and a
segment profit of HK$6.8 million (2016: loss of HK$20.8
million) during the review year.

As at 31 December 2017, the Group’s financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss amounted to HK$3.5
million (31 December 2016: HK$108.2 million) which
comprised one (831 December 2016: 23) Hong Kong
listed corporation. The details as at 31 December 2017
are as follows:
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Details of the top five (loss)/gains of listed equity
securities held by the Group for the year ended 31

December 2017 are as follows:

(B8 WaEFEmT :

HEZE-_ZT—+tF+-_A=1t—"HILF
B -AEEFBEZ EHBRAZFSF AKX

Industry Fair value Dividends
Stock code Listed company classification (loss)/gain received
ARE
B AR5 tHAT TESE (B18) i Bz 8
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FERT
00940 China Animal Healthcare Ltd. Consumer goods
- pharmaceuticals (4,576) -
TR REMER AT HEm—Em
00700 Tencent Holdings Limited Information technology
- E-commerce and
internet services 3,633 19
BAERAR LA BB E-EFEER
5 B 4 AR 7%
01918 Sunac China Holdings Properties and construction
Limited - property development 3,607 -
REIPRZERAERRA MEREE-FEHMEER
00966 China Taiping Insurance Financials — insurance
Holdings Company Limited 2,396 -
FEA P REZERER AR TR — R
00570 China Traditional Chinese Consumer goods
Medicine Holdings - pharmaceuticals
Co. Limited 1,426 -
FE AR EERAR DA HEm—Em
6,486 19
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In June 2017, in line with its business diversification
strategy, the Group entered into a share subscription
agreement to subscribe 6,480,000 new shares of United
Security Solutions International Limited (“USS”). USS is
a newly established global risk management company
that delivers comprehensive, tailored and industry-
leading risk management, advisory, crisis management
and cyber security services. USS subsequently completed
the acquisition of a security and crisis management
subsidiary, as such it now has a solid platform to offer
security and crisis management services to including
customers in Mainland China and the Asia Pacific region.
Focusing on security and crisis management business is
in favour of USS in this early stage of development when
compared with setting up a risk advisory and cyber security
platform and providing related services. Heeding this new
business focus and related capital requirement, the Group
signed a Supplemental Agreement on 12 January 2018
reducing its subscription of new shares from 6,480,000 to
4,101,615 for a consideration of US$4,101,615 (equivalent
to HK$31,992,597) using internal resources. With the
transaction completed, the Group now holds approximately
41.45% interest in its associate USS. As USS was at the
initial start-up stage of business development, the Group
shared a loss of HK$5.7 million related to USS’s operation
for the year ended 31 December 2017.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

Adopting a conservative financial management approach,
the Group continues to maintain a healthy financial position.
As at 31 December 2017, the Group’s cash and cash
equivalents was HK$67.5 million (31 December 2016:
HK$21.5 million). Working capital represented by net current
assets amounted to HK$107.5 million (31 December 2016:
HK$150.7 million) of which HK$3.5 million (31 December
2016: HK$108.2 million) were Hong Kong listed equity
stocks. The Group’s current ratio was 2.6 (31 December
2016: 5.6).
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Bank borrowing comprised term loans of HK$6.0 million (31
December 2016: no bank borrowing) which were repayable
within one year. The bank loans were denominated in
Renminbi. As at 31 December 2017, the gearing ratio of the
Group, which is calculated as net debt (total borrowing less
cash and cash equivalents) divided by capital and reserves
attributable to the Company’s equity holders, was -30.4%
(31 December 2016: Not applicable).

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

For the year under review, the Group incurred a total capital
expenditure of HK$0.6 million (2016: HK$3.7 million), which
was mainly for additions to machinery and office equipment.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group’s sales are principally transacted in US dollars.
With a factory in Mainland China and offices in Hong Kong
and Mainland China, operating expenses of the Group are
primarily denominated in Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi
with some expenses in US dollars. The Group is mainly
exposed to US dollar exchange risk arising from sales
transactions of its garments. As the Hong Kong dollar is
pegged to the US dollar, exposure of the Group to foreign
exchange risk is minimal.

The Group will closely monitor fluctuation of US dollar
exchange rates and, if necessary, will enter into forward
exchange contracts to reduce currency exchange fluctuation
risks.

CREDIT POLICY

Consistent with prevailing industry practice, the Group’s
business was transacted on an open account basis with
its long-standing customers during the year under review.
The credit ratings of customers are constantly reviewed and
their respective credit limits will be adjusted, as and when
necessary.
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CHARGES ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2017, the Group’s land use rights of
HK$5.8 million and buildings of HK$23.4 million in Heshan,
Mainland China were pledged as security for the Group’s
bank borrowing. As at 31 December 2016, the Group had
no charges on assets.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2017 and 2016, the Group had no
contingent liabilities.

HUMAN RESOURCES AND REMUNERATION
POLICIES

The Group provides a harmonious and professional
working environment to employees as their commitment
and expertise are critical to the long-term success of its
business. It also offers employees rewarding careers and
provides them with a variety of training programmes aimed
at enhancing their professionalism. The Group remunerates
employees according to prevailing market practices,
individual experience and performance. To attract and retain
high calibre employees, it also offers discretionary bonuses
and share options to staff members based on performance
of the individual as well as the Group.

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had a total of 881 (31
December 2016: 875) full-time employees in Mainland China
and Hong Kong.

EEKR

R—E—+FE+-_A=+—H K&
B AR B KBERS L Th 2 i 5 A
FENTEBLAEF-_FT=0+8
BILTERPIEREBRITER ZER-
R-E—RFE+-_A=+—H K&H
W EEREM -

HABRE

RZEBE—+tFR_ZET—XF+_A
=t+t—H AEBTESAAE-

A &R R 57 N B SR

AEBEREERFEMEREXZ THER
BOEXB RN EEREE 21BW
BATHEREEEXRE AEEETE
BRABEZEEMEHREEMBEER
EEZ T RF IR - A K B & B % B
‘A TIRIBEIRITHISIE G MR E AL
BREXEMET SRIIMBERER
BE ANEETFZENEE 2KRREAK
SEzEXERERNEER TRIBEALR
R

RZE—+tF+_A=+—"H Xx&EH
ARBEAKEEEELEMASSIZ (ZZ
—RNF+-_A=+—H:875%) 2 BE

=0
=

Annual Report 2017 EERE /I 9



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE

As a responsible corporation, the Group is committed
to maintaining the highest environmental and social
standards to ensure sustainable development of its
business. The Board has overall responsibility for the
Group’s environmental, social and governance (“‘ESG”)
strategy. The Board is responsible for ensuring that there
are appropriate and effective risk management and internal
control systems in place to mitigate ESG-related risks and
meet stakeholders’ needs and expectations. The Group’s
ESG management team is assigned key responsibilities
including monitoring the implementation of ESG strategic
plans, alerting the Board of any potential ESG-related risks,
reporting to the Board about ESG system effectiveness and
reviewing stakeholders’ needs and expectations.

The Group operates two business segments: garment
manufacturing and trading, and securities investment.
The Group’s factory in Heshan city, Guangdong Province,
Mainland China accounted for the entire garment
manufacturing and trading business with 863 employees
as at 31 December 2017 and the Hong Kong office had 18
employees who were mainly responsible for the securities
investment business and providing supporting services
to the Group. The two business segments as well as the
Hong Kong office had complied with all relevant laws and
regulations in relation to its business in the environmental
and social aspects for the year ended 31 December 2017.
The Group understands a better future for the society
depends on everyone’s participation and contribution. It
encourages employees, customers, suppliers and other
stakeholders to participate in environmental protection and
social activities which can benefit the community as a whole.

The Group maintains strong relationships with its employees,
has kept enhancing cooperation with suppliers and providing
high quality products and services to customers, which have
helped ensure sustainable development of its business.
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Having considered stakeholders’ major concerns and
materiality, the Group decided to include the garment
manufacturing and trading business as carried out at
its Heshan factory in ESG reporting for year ended 31
December 2017. The Group’s Heshan factory needs to
undergo stringent environmental audit and continuous
monitoring by local government departments. An annual
inspection on the Heshan manufacturing plant is performed
by Heshan Environmental Protection Bureau. In the
reporting year, the Heshan manufacturing plant complied
with all relevant environmental laws and regulations. All
Heshan factory employees are recruited under employment
agreements with terms in compliance with the relevant laws
and regulations. It complied with all relevant occupational
health and safety laws and regulations imposed by Mainland
China authorities. With a safe working environment and
regular occupational safety trainings held for all employees,
there were no work-related fatalities at the production
facilities for the year ended 31 December 2017. A full 2017
ESG report is being prepared with reference to Appendix 27
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide to
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the
“Listing Rules”) and will be published on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange around the end of May
2018.

OUTLOOK

2017 was a positive and encouraging year for the economy
and capital markets. Global economic confidence, economic
growth and stock markets continued to improve. Looking
ahead, we expect global economic activities to continue to
thrive.
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Given the encouraging business conditions in overseas
markets, the Group will continue to focus on growing the
US and European markets for its garment manufacturing
and trading business. In the US, multi-national corporations
have started repatriating funds following the passing of
the tax reform bills on December 2017. With more capital
going back into businesses in the US, the US economy is
expected to keep improving and create favourable spill-
over for its trading partners. However, some countries may
experience severe capital outflows which in turn may trigger
a race to slash taxes to compete for capital. In addition,
in view of Trump’s “America first” protectionist strategy,
black swan events may emerge to change the optimism of
economies in 2017 and dampen global growth momentum
in 2018, a possible impact that cannot be underestimated.

While in the Euro-zone, as long as there is a smooth Brexit
negotiation and the European Central Bank maintains
its expansionary monetary policy, economies there are
expected to see their growth rates climb further in 2018.

As for the Hong Kong stock market, the Hang Seng Index
reached record high since the 2008 financial crisis. As
valuations soar with volatility index alongside, the possibility
of correction has grown. In addition, such factors as
the geopolitical tension on the Korean peninsula and in
the Middle East, anti-globalisation initiatives of the US
government and concerns about the increase in frequency
and magnitude of US interest rate hikes are all adding
to stock market volatility. During year 2017, the Group
disposed of most of its listed stocks to secure gains and
boost its financial resources for, when opportunities arise,
investing in businesses that promise long-term stable returns
or in Hong Kong listed equities of reasonable fundamental
value.

As always, the Group pledges to seek opportunities to
broaden its income sources. The subscription of shares in
USS has given the Group an opportunity to explore extra
income by deploying resources to closely monitor the
business development of this rapidly growing company in
a fast developing industry. Looking ahead, we will continue
to execute set business strategies and at the same time
explore diversification into other potentially lucrative areas.
It is the intention of the Group to strive for long-term
sustainable growth of its business so as to maximise returns
to shareholders.

2 2 Carry Wealth Holdings Limited B Z1=REAR A T

ENBINTHZEBRRT ATIE
SESEET INERIBEMEMNTHS
LK EREHER - EXRE B
NEAEER T —tF+ - ABBMK
AREOCHBKESHEIBERN - EEE
ZEAREEXEEY AHXBELE
BRENEYREBEIBHELEHN
J& - 2R - & T B K Al B E B B EE & AR5
o fem sl R FEEARMmHURB 2
BB ENEFAE Z [XEE L]
CESHRETERRR BRXIBEHARE
HIRMSE — T+ FRBER LRI
RIS T - \F2HIERBE E
ARG ZTE-

FEBATE B - R % B R
Heh sk BT BB R EROREHE B
BN =B \EREERE RS 4
B3

REBREMSME BERBERA
—ETNFEREBURNTR - BEE
HEEREIEHELERT BB 2B
MBI tHN AR FAEFE RF R
BEBURERR  FEBNR 2RI Z B8
AR B S B N BHR R 08 E IR e 2 B
FREHEMBETZEB R _FT—t
FOAEECHEEAR Y EHERE A
FEEUH) 2 MR N H B 75 B R - e T BE 4R
REERSLER REXERERY
REOBZEZBHASEEREENE
BLETMRE-

—WEEE ARBRESKEERAE
WARR - REBAHIEB A 2 RIDBARE
BREH-ERRBINANKS BB
MEERTYE R ABRKNEARRNE
ERRERTEZEGELER -RERK
HPISEERTTREE 2 FIE KA - Bt
RIE - A IR R H A 7 72 A R R E 2
TEERB IR - AEERBEEZNER
HEBzERMAFEER UBKRRS
LS5 FNEIE:



Corporate Governance Report 1% &4

The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) is
committed to maintaining and ensuring high standards of
corporate governance as good corporate governance can
safeguard the interests of all shareholders and enhance
corporate value. The Company continuously reviews and
improves the corporate governance practices and standards
of the Group from time to time to ensure that business
activities and decision making processes are regulated in a
proper manner.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has complied with all the code provisions
set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”)
contained in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) throughout
the year ended 31 December 2017 except for the Code
Provision A.2.1 which requires the split of role of chairman
and chief executive and the segregation of responsibilities
between chairman and chief executive should be clearly
established and set out in writing.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Board Composition

The Board is led by the Chairman and currently comprises
two executive directors, one non-executive director and
three independent non-executive directors as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Li Haifeng (Chairman & Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Wang Ke (Vice President)

(Appointed on 19 March 2018)
Mr. Tang Chak Lam, Charlie

(Ceased appointment on 1 January 2018)

Non-Executive Director

Mr. Lee Sheng Kuang, James
(Re-designated from an executive director to
a non-executive director on 1 April 2017)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Yau Wing Yiu
Mr. Zhang Zhenyi

(Appointed on 24 March 2017)
Ms. Zheng Xianzhi

(Appointed on 30 June 2017)
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The biographical details of the directors are set out on
pages 47 to 50 of this Annual Report. The Board possesses
a balance of skill and experience which is appropriate for
the requirements of the business of the Group. A balanced
composition of executive and non-executive directors also
generates a strong independent element on the Board,
which can exercise independent judgement effectively
and make decision objectively for the best interests of the
Company.

Following the appointment of Mr. Li Haifeng as the chief
executive officer (“CEQ”) of the Company on 1 April 2017,
Mr. Li assumes the role of both the chairman and the CEO.
The Board considers that such arrangement can facilitate
the implementation of business strategies and decisions as
well as the daily operation. The Board believes that balance
of power and authority is adequately ensured and will not be
impaired since its composition and the senior management
of the Company are experienced and high calibre individuals.
There is no relationship (including financial, business, family
or other material or relevant relationship) among members of
the Board.

All the independent non-executive directors of the Company
have appropriate qualifications and their professional
opinions raised in the Board meetings facilitate the
maintenance of good corporate governance practices. The
Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive directors in respect of the annual confirmation
of their independence. All the independent non-
executive directors meet the guidelines for assessment of
independence as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
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Appointments and Re-election of Directors

The Board is empowered under the Company’s Bye-
laws to appoint any person as a director either to fill a
casual vacancy on or as an additional member of the
Board. The selection criteria are mainly based on the
professional qualification and experience of the candidate
and the recommendations of the Nomination Committee.
All directors are engaged on service contracts for a term of
three years except for Mr. Lee Sheng Kuang, James whose
service contract is a term for two years. A newly appointed
director must retire and be re-elected at the first general
meeting after his/her appointment.

At each annual general meeting of the Company, one-
third of the directors (including non-executive director and
independent non-executive directors) for the time being (or,
if their number is not three or a multiple of three, then the
number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire
from office by rotation. Every director shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. The
directors to retire every year will be those who have been the
longest in office since their last re-election or appointment.
As such, no director has a term of appointment longer than
three years. A retiring director shall be eligible for re-election.
During the year, Mr. Zhang Zhenyi and Ms. Zheng Xianzhi
were appointed as an independent non-executive directors
of the Company. On 19 March 2018, Mr. Wang Ke was
appointed as an executive director of the Company.

Board and Management

To enable all directors to make informed decisions in
the Board meetings and to discharge their duties and
responsibilities, appropriate, complete and reliable
information prepared by the management are provided
in a timely manner. All directors are kept informed on a
timely basis of major changes that may affect the Group’s
business, including relevant rules and regulations. To
reinforce independence, the Board and each director
can have separate and independent access to the
management of the Company if additional information is
required. To further assist the directors to discharge their
duties to the Company, the Board has also established a
written procedure to enable directors to seek independent
professional advice at the Company’s expenses. No request
was made by any director for such independent professional
advice in 2017.
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In order to have a clear principle in relation to the matters
specifically reserved to the Board for decisions, functions
between the Board and the management are formalized.
The Board has established a written guideline determining
which issues require a decision of the Board and those
delegated to the management. The guideline is reviewed
by the Board on a regular basis and has been posted on
the intranet of the Company. Matters reserved to the Board
for decision include the making of significant financial and
legal commitments, mergers and acquisitions, material asset
acquisitions or disposals, the change of share capital, the
approval of financial reporting, budgeting, management
succession and representation to shareholders. The
management is responsible for the day-to-day running of
the Group. The management is required to submit reports
on the operations to the Board on a regular basis and make
recommendations to the Board on the development of
major projects or business proposals and their respective
implementation. The Board is of the view that such division
of responsibilities can enhance the corporate governance of
the Company.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in
respect of any possible legal action against its directors and
officers and the insurance coverage is reviewed on an annual
basis.

Board Meetings

At least four regular Board meetings are held a year with
at least fourteen days’ notice given to all directors to
approve annual and interim results, review the business
operation, and risk management and the internal control
systems of the Group and the meeting schedule will be
fixed at the beginning of each year to facilitate fullest
possible attendance. Between regular meetings, other Board
meetings are held to approve major issues when necessary.
Agendas and accompanying Board papers are sent not less
than three days before the date of Board meetings to ensure
that the directors are given sufficient review time. Draft
minutes of Board meetings and Board committee meetings
are circulated to directors for their review and comment
while final version of the said minutes, duly signed, are sent
to all members for their records. All said minutes are kept by
the Company Secretary of the Company and are open for
inspection at any reasonable time on reasonable notice by
any director.
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During the year, four Board meetings were held and the
attendance records of directors are set out on page 34 of
this Annual Report.

Directors’ Continuous Professional Development

The Company provides briefings and other training to
develop and refresh the directors’ knowledge and skills.
As part of an ongoing process of directors’ training, the
Company Secretary continuously updates all directors on the
latest developments regarding the Listing Rules and other
applicable regulatory requirements to ensure compliance
and enhance their awareness of good corporate governance
practices. The Company Secretary also circulates details of
training courses which may be of interest to directors. All
directors are encouraged to attend training courses at the
Company’s expense. All directors provided the Company
their training records for the year ended 31 December 2017
which are summarized as follows:

RERNGETONAEESEHR EFL
HECHEENANFEREFEI4E -

EFECHEEEER

RARREBHN REMITI - AR R
EHEENME LT - EAESEI
BEBRE M RaEHERE
REEREFBELEMAR R EMEAE
ERTEZENBEEMNE UBRETS
RATRSEESHRITGEEAERZ
B -RRIMENTORIKETEAES
BB ZEIREFE TEBHE2EES
HESIIRE BERABRARG S -28
EEHRARTREESHE_Z—+
F+_AZ+BHULFEHEENIZR
B WHLA AN T

Type of Training"°®
sl

Directors EE A B
Executive Directors HITESE

Mr. Li Haifeng £ 4 4
Mr. Tang Chak Lam, Charlie” BOER ST A v
Non-Executive Director HFEITEE

Mr. Lee Sheng Kuang, James FBHHEE v v
Independent Non-Executive Directors BUHBITEE

Mr. Yau Wing Yiu S K 8 52 A v

Mr. Zhang Zhenyi SRR & S A v

Ms. Zheng Xianzhi Bl 28 2+ v v

Note:
Types of Training

A: Attending training sessions, including but not limited to, briefings,
seminars, conferences and workshops

B: Reading relevant news alerts, newspapers, journals, magazines and
relevant publications

A

Ceased appointment on 1 January 2018

During the year, the Company organized and funded several
training sessions conducted by its legals counsel for the
directors and officers of the Company which covered various
topics under the relevant laws and regulations such as
Companies Ordinance, Listing Rules, Securities and Futures
Ordinance and Code on Takeovers and Mergers.
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Securities Transactions of Directors and Relevant
Employees

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding
directors’ securities transactions on terms no less exacting
than the required standard set out in the Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
contained in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules (the “Model
Code”). Having made specific enquiry of all directors of
the Company, all directors have confirmed that they had
complied with the required standard set out in the Model
Code and the Company’s code of conduct regarding
directors’ securities transactions during the year.

Details of the directors’ interests in the shares of the
Company as at 31 December 2017 are set out on pages 51
to 52 of this Annual Report.

In accordance with Code A.6.4 of the CG Code, the
Board has also established a written guideline on no less
exacting terms than the Model Code for employees of
the Company or director or employee of the Company’s
subsidiaries or holding company who are likely to possess
inside information in relation to the Group or securities of the
Company. No incident of non-compliance was noted by the
Company in 2017.

BOARD COMMITTEES
Audit Committee

The Board set up the Audit Committee in 2000 with specific
written terms of reference which deals clearly with its
authority and duties. The terms of reference were revised in
2015 and maintained on both the websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange. The Audit Committee is to review
the Group’s financial reporting, the external auditor’s
independence, risk management, internal controls and
corporate governance issues and make recommendations to
the Board.

The members of the Audit Committee include:
Mr. Yau Wing Yiu (Committee Chairman)

Mr. Zhang Zhenyi
Ms. Zheng Xianzhi
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All Audit Committee members are independent non-
executive directors. During the year, the Audit Committee
held four meetings and the attendance records of members
are set out on page 34 of this Annual Report.

The Audit Committee had mainly performed the following
work during the year:

(viii)

reviewed the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with the applicable standards;

reviewed the draft interim and annual financial
statements and the related draft results announcements;

reviewed the change in accounting standards and
assessment of potential impacts on the Group’s
financial statements;

discussed the risk management and internal control
systems with management including the adequacy of
resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of the Group’s accounting,
internal audit and financial reporting functions;

made recommendation on the appointment or
reappointment of the external auditors and approved
their terms of engagement;

reviewed and monitored the training and continuous
professional development of directors;

reviewed the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and made recommendations to
the Board; and

Oversaw and monitored the operation of Risk
Management and Steering Committee such as
reviewing the quarterly and annual report or any ad
hoc report.
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Remuneration Committee

The Board set up the Remuneration Committee in 2005
with specific written terms of reference which deal clearly
with its authority and duties. The terms of reference are
maintained on both the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange. The Remuneration Committee’s role is to
make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
policy and structure for directors and senior management
and to ensure that they are fairly rewarded for their individual
contribution to the Group’s overall performance, having
regard to the interests of shareholders. The principal
duties of the Remuneration Committee include reviewing
and making recommendations to the Board on the
specific remuneration packages of all directors and senior
management as well as performance-based remuneration by
reference to corporate goals and objectives resolved by the
Board from time to time.

The members of the Remuneration Committee include:

Mr. Yau Wing Yiu (Committee Chairman)
Mr. Wang Ke
(Appointed on 19 March 2018)
Mr. Zhang Zhenyi
Ms. Zheng Xianzhi

Except for Mr. Wang Ke who is an executive director,
all Remuneration Committee members are independent
non-executive directors. The remuneration of each of
the directors was determined in accordance with the
remuneration policy.

The main principles of remuneration policy of the Company
are:

(i) to retain and motivate executive directors and
senior management by linking their compensation
with performance as measured against corporate
objectives;

(if) to align executive directors’ and senior management’s
remuneration with shareholders’ interests; and

(i)  to ensure that no director or senior management or

any of his/her associate is involved in deciding his/her
own remuneration.
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When fixing the remuneration packages of executive
directors, considerations have been given to the
qualifications and experience of the executive directors,
their duties and responsibilities with and contributions to
the Group, the level of directors’ remuneration of other
comparable listed companies in Hong Kong, the Group’s
performance and the prevailing market condition. The
principal elements of the remuneration packages of
executive directors of the Company include salary, director’s
fee, double pay, discretionary bonus and share options.

Details of the remuneration of each director, on a named
basis, are disclosed in Note 13 to the financial statements
on pages 115 to 117 of this Annual Report. Reimbursement
is provided for out-of-pocket expenses incurred (including
traveling and hotel expenses) in connection with the
performance of directors’ duties.

During the year, the Remuneration Committee held one
meeting and had recommended to the Board on the
appointment of Mr. Zhang Zhenyi and Ms. Zheng Xianzhi
as independent non-executive directors and a member of
each of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee
and Nomination Committee and the approval of their
remuneration package. It also recommended the Board on
the appointment of Mr. Wang Ke as an executive director,
vice president and a member of the Company’s Investment
Committee and this Committee on 19 March 2018 and
the approval of his remuneration package. The attendance
records of members are set out on page 34 of this Annual
Report.

Nomination Committee

The Board set up the Nomination Committee in 2012
with specific written terms of reference which deal clearly
with its authority and duties. The terms of reference are
maintained on both the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange. The role of the Nomination Committee
is to formulate policy and make recommendations to the
Board on matters including nomination and appointment of
directors, and structure and composition of the Board.

During the year, the Board had maintained a board diversity
policy setting out the approach to achieve diversity on the
Board.
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With a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced
development, the Company sees increasing diversity at
the Board level as an essential element in supporting the
attainment of its strategic objectives and its sustainable
development. In designing the Board’s composition, Board
diversity has been considered from a number of aspects,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service. All Board
appointments will be based on meritocracy and candidates
will be considered against objective criteria, having due
regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

The members of the Nomination Committee include:

Mr. Li Haifeng (Committee Chairman)
Mr. Yau Wing Yiu

Mr. Zhang Zhenyi

Ms. Zheng Xianzyi

Except for Mr. Li Haifeng who is an executive director, all
Nomination Committee members are independent non-
executive directors. During the year, the Nomination
Committee held one meeting to review the structure, size
and composition and succession planning of the Board
and assess the independence of the independent non-
executive directors. It also recommended the Board on the
appointment of Mr. Zhang Zhengyi and Ms. Zheng Xianzhi
as independent non-executive directors and a member of
each of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee
and Nomination Committee. It handled the re-designation
of Mr. Lee Sheng Kuang, James from an executive director
to non-executive director and his resignation as managing
director and member of the Investment Committee of the
Company. Apart from that, it recommended the Board on
the appointment of Mr. Wang Ke as an executive director,
vice president and a member of each of the Remuneration
Committee and Investment Committee of the Company on
19 March 2018. The attendance records of members are set
out on page 34 of this Annual Report.
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Investment Committee

The Board set up the Investment Committee in 2014 with
specific written terms of reference which deal clearly with
its authority and duties. The primary role of the Investment
Committee is to review and approve the investment policy
and monitor the securities investment business as it deems
proper to meet the latest development of the Group or
changes in the securities market.

The current members of the Investment Committee are:

Mr. Li Haifeng (Committee Chairman)
Mr. Wang Ke
(Appointment on 19 March 2018)

During the year, the Investment Committee held one meeting
and the attendance records of members are set out on page
34 of this Annual Report.

The Investment Committee had mainly performed the
following work:—

(i) approved and updated the investment policy including
objectives and strategy that direct investment
activities;

(if) oversaw investment activities of the Group and
controlled the associated risk levels to assure
adherence to the investment policy;

(ii) monitored the performance of the investment portfolio
and considered the re-appointment of the external
investment professionals.
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ATTENDANCE RECORD OF DIRECTORS AND EERZEEEREZHFESE
COMMITTEE MEMBERS

The attendance of individual Board member in Board BHE_ZT—+tF+_A=1T—HIF
meetings, Board Committees meetings and general meeting B -EAEEENERESE EFE8
for the year ended 31 December 2017 is set out in the table GRBRRGZEFLESH N T&:
below:

No. of meetings attended/No. of meetings held

HE/BIEHRRY
Audit  Remuneration Nomination Investment
Board Committee Committee Committee Committee General
Meetings Meetings Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
EEE ERZEE FNEEE REZEE REZEE BEXE
Executive Directors
HiTEE
Mr. Li Haifeng 4/4 N/A N/A 11 1/1 1/1
FEREE TR TEm
Mr. Tang Chak Lam, Charlie 4/4 N/A 1/1 N/A 1/1 1/1
(ceased appointment on 1 January 2018) TEA TEA
BEREE (M- \F-A-HRILZER)
Non-Executive Director
FHTEE
Mr. Lee Sheng Kuang, James
(re-designated from an executive director to
a non-executive director on 1 April 2017) 3/4 N/A N/A N/A N/A 11
TBHREE(R=F—+FMA—A
HHTEERIRINTEE) iR S TEm TEA
Independent Non-Executive Directors
BUHHITEE
Mr. Liu Run
(resigned on 30 June 2017) 2/2 2/2 N/A N/A N/A 11
BBEE (RZF—+ENA=ZTHEF) @A TEA TER
Ms. Su Zhengyu
(resigned on 24 March 2017) 1/1 2/2 N/A N/A N/A N/A
BTt (R-F—+F=HA=1HHFF) @R TEA TERA TEA
Mr. Yau Wing Yiu 4/4 4/4 1/1 11 N/A 1/1
BBk B4 EE
Mr. Zhang Zhenyi
(appointed on 24 March 2017) 3/3 2/2 11 11 N/A 11
REERE (R=F—+F=A=1HAEZF) TER
Ms. Zheng Xianzhi
(appointed on 30 June 2017) 2/2 2/2 il 11 N/A N/A
BEBa+ (R=F—tENA=1THEZFE) TEA TEA
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RESPONSIBILITY FOR PREPARATION AND
REPORTING OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company acknowledge their
responsibility for preparing the financial statements of
the Group in accordance with statutory requirements and
applicable accounting standards. The directors will select
suitable accounting policies and apply them consistently,
make judgements and estimates that are prudent, fair and
reasonable and prepare the financial statements on a going
concern basis. The Board’s responsibility to present a
balanced, clear and understandable assessment extends
to annual and interim reports, other inside information
announcements and other financial disclosures required
under the Listing Rules as well as the information required to
be disclosed pursuant to statutory requirements.

The statement of the auditor of the Company regarding their
reporting responsibilities for the financial statements of the
Group is set out on pages 56 to 63 of this Annual Report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board is responsible for evaluating and determining
the nature and extent of the risks that the Group is willing
to take in achieving its strategic objectives, and has the
ultimate responsibility to maintain a sound and effective
risk management and internal control systems for the
Group and review their effectiveness so as to safeguard the
shareholders’ investment and the Group’s assets and ensure
strict compliance with relevant laws, rules and regulations.
The Audit Committee is also responsible for reviewing the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems, ensuring strict compliance with relevant rules and
regulations as well and reporting to the Board.

RREZRUMBRRZEME

ARREEHRNERBEAKEM R
KRB MZRFMBRERIDRIBEE
BERPBERGAENRE -EFHER
BESHBENMERER (FhER 2
FREE ZHE KRG LRFELE
REERAEVBBRR -EFTG2EMET
I8 T IE K B R b A F R ¥R B B
BE EMARBEEAMRRE LR
AMEBRTHRBEZEMMBER UK
RIFEGIRERTRENER

ARARZBERBERBASE /M5
BRZEREEMEZBAIRNALFE
HEFE6EAEFE63AN

J B 5 T % P BB B 4

EEeAEEFEMABEENETAE
BEXREAEmMEEAERRBOEE K
BE TR LEBASERREE LA
MEENRREGEREHNERYZIRE
T URERRZRE AEEZEER
FERBIB BT B RBDERE - MBI RIRD - &=
“EZBeMAETENAREENAE
BRI 2 WNRE - RIS RECR B A% B T AR AR
AR ) A MEFGRE

Annual Report 2017 E£E#H & 86



Corporate Governance Report ¥ &4 &

In line with last year, the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems are based on the Internal Control
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of Treadway Commission in the
US in 2013 (2013 COSO Framework”) and Internal Control
and Risk Management — A Basic Framework issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants which
are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of
failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss. The Risk Management and Steering
Committee (RMSC), with management from different
business units, has assisted the Board and Audit Committee
in discharging their duties in risk management and internal
control functions by drafting an annual internal audit plan,
ensuring a smooth audit checking on the Group business
operations according to the audit plans designed and
reporting to the Board and/or Audit Committee any potential
risks facing the Group in a timely manner.

The Group understands that risk management and internal
control systems are not merely about policies and manuals,
but about people and the actions they take at every level
of the Group. To support all employees in ever — changing
markets, regular training is provided to strengthen their
awareness of risk and capability to manage risks. During
the year, the Board together with the Audit Committee,
reviewed the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget of the Group’s
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions,
and were satisfied with the results of the review.

All in all, the Board continues to enhance and oversee the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems with
the support of the Audit Committee and RMSC. Below are
the review process and results regarding the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems for the year ended
31 December 2017.
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Review of Risk Management and Internal Control
Systems

RMSC designed, implemented and monitored the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems by
considering the five integrated components of 2013 COSO
Framework, namely, control environment, risk assessment,
control activities, information and communication and
monitoring activities.

During the risk assessment process, RMSC identified the
significant risks facing the Group. A risk matrix report was
prepared which prioritised risks according to the likelihood of
their occurrence and the significance of their impact on the
business of the Group.

Following the review and endorsement of the risk matrix
report by the Audit Committee and the Board, RMSC
developed an annual internal audit plan to evaluate the
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems. RMSC investigated and assessed what
internal control procedures were to be executed to ensure
the identified significant risks were managed within the
acceptable level. These internal control procedures covered
material controls designed to provide reasonable assurance
as to the achievement of the Group’s objectives including
financial, operational and compliance controls. A monthly
Independent internal audit was performed by RMSC
members to test and evaluate whether the selected internal
controls were effective. During the year, RMSC members
had performed internal audit on the Group’s business
cycles including compliance, revenue, purchase, fix assets
acquisition and information technology management.

In addition, each existing business segment was required
to perform assessment on the effectiveness of its risk
management and internal control systems on an annual
basis. The assessment questionnaire sets out key factors
in each of the five integrated components of 2013 COSO
Framework.
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With the assessment questionnaires from each business
segment, monthly, quarterly and annual reports from RMSC,
the Audit Committee closely monitored the effectiveness of
the Group’s risk management and internal control systems
and reported to the Board on an ongoing basis. For the year
ended 31 December 2017, both the Audit Committee and
the Board were not aware of any material internal control
defects and were satisfied that the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group have been effective
and adequate.

Procedures and Internal Controls for the Handling and
Dissemination of Inside Information

The Company formulated the inside information policy as
a guideline to handle and disseminate inside information.
The inside information policy contains a strict prohibition on
unauthorised use of inside information and sets out, inter
alia, establishment of the inside information identification,
reporting and disclosure protocol and procedures. For the
year ended 31 December 2017, inside information was
disseminated in accordance with the inside information
policy and the applicable laws and regulations.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

PricewaterhouseCoopers is the external auditor of the
Company. For the year ended 31 December 2017, the
external auditor received the following remuneration for audit
and non-audit services provided to the Group:
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HK$’ 000

FHT

Audit services F5T R 1,445
Non-audit services IERET RS

Agreed upon procedures on interim reporting RPHRECATEENREF 135

Taxation services 7% R 1% 130

1,710

The Audit Committee received written confirmation from
the external auditor on its independence and objectivity
as required by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

During the year, Ms. Kung Yuk Lan resigned as the company
secretary of the Company on 31 August 2017 and she was
replaced by Ms. Wang Jue.

The Company has appointed Ms. Lau Yee Wa of Tricor
Services Limited, an external service provider, as the
Company’s company secretary since 5 January 2018. Her
primary contact person at the Company is Mr. Bernard Chiu,
Deputy Chief Financial Officer of the Company.

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the
company secretary on corporate governance and board
practices and matters.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS AND INVESTOR
RELATIONS

Shareholders to Convene a Special General Meeting
(“SGM”) and Putting Forward Proposals at SGMs

According to the Bye-laws of the Company, shareholders’
holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than
one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company,
can by written requisition to the Board or the Company
Secretary of the Company to convene a special general
meeting for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition and such meeting shall be held within two months
after the deposit of such requisition. In compliance with
the requirements of the Listing Rules, any annual general
meeting, and general meeting at which the passing of a
special resolution is to be considered shall be called by at
least 20 clear business days’ notice, whilst others may be
called by at least 10 clear business days’ notice.

To further enhance the minority shareholders’ right, all
resolutions at any general meeting are decided on poll and
such practice has been adopted since 2005. The chairman
of any general meetings ensures that the shareholders are
informed of the detailed procedures for conducting a poll by
way of making the explanation at the commencement of the
general meetings. The chairman of general meetings also
ensures full compliance with the requirements about voting
by poll contained in the Listing Rules and the Bye-laws of
the Company.
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Shareholders to Propose a Person for Election as a
Director

The procedures for a shareholder to propose a person for
election as a Director can be found on the website of the
Company. Shareholders representing not less than one-
twentieth of the total voting rights of all shareholders having
at the date of the requisition a right to vote at the general
meeting or who are no less than 100 shareholders can
submit a written requisition to the Board or the Company
Secretary to propose a resolution relating to other matters
at a general meeting. The written requisition must state the
resolution, accompanied by a statement of not more than
one thousand words with respect to the matter referred to
in the proposed resolution or the business to be dealt with
at the general meeting and contain the signatures of all the
requisitionists (which may be contained in one document or
in several documents in like form). Such requisition must be
deposited at the Company’s registered office at Clarendon
House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda not less
than six weeks before the general meeting in the case of a
requisition requiring notice of a resolution and not less than
one week before the general meeting in the case of any
other requisition and be accompanied by a sum of money
reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s expenses
in serving the notice of the resolution and circulating the
statement given by the requisitionists to all shareholders in
accordance with the requirements under the applicable laws
and rules.
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Communication with Shareholders

In order to maintain an on-going dialogue with shareholders,
shareholders are encouraged to attend annual general
meeting of the Company at which the Chairman of the Board
and the chairmen of the Board committees are pleased to
answer questions related to the Group’s business.

Shareholders’ comments and suggestions are welcome
and such comments can be sent in writing to the Company
Secretary at the Company’s address in Hong Kong or by
e-mail to the Company’s website. The Board endeavors to
answer all invaluable questions of the shareholders.

As a channel of further promoting effective communication,
the corporate website, www.carrywealth.com, is maintained
by the Company to disseminate information on a timely
basis and the published information will be maintained at
the above website for at least five years. A shareholders
communication policy was adopted in March 2012 and has
been posted on the Company’s website.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There were no changes in the Company’s constitutional
documents during the year.
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The directors present their report together with the audited
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2017,

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND GEOGRAPHICAL
ANALYSIS OF OPERATIONS

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The activities of the subsidiaries are set out in Note 30 to the
financial statements.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year by
operating segment is set out in Note 5 to the financial
statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year are set out in the
consolidated income statement on page 64.

The directors did not declare any interim dividend for the six
months ended 30 June 2017 (2016: Nil).

The directors do not recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2017 (2016: Nil).

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2017, the Company had no reserve (31
December 2016: Nil) available for distribution as computed
in accordance with the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda.
However, the Company’s share premium account in the
amount of HK$217,761,000 as at 31 December 2017 (31
December 2016: HK$217,761,000) may be distributed in the
form of fully paid bonus shares, subject to the shareholders’
approval of the Company and compliance with provision of
the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and the Bye-laws of
the Company.

Movements in the reserves of the Group and of the
Company during the year are set out in Notes 27 and 32a to
the financial statements.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

Share Options granted to directors and selected
employees

No share options were granted during the year ended 31
December 2017. (2016: Nil)

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set
out in Note 30 to the financial statements.

BANK BORROWING

Particulars of the Group’s borrowing and pledged assets are
set out in note 25 to the financial statements.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of
the Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 6
of this Annual Report.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities
during the year.

SHARE OPTIONS

On 22 May 2012, the shareholders of the Company
approved the adoption of a share option scheme (the
“Scheme”). A summary of the principal terms of the Scheme,
as disclosed in accordance with the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) is
as follows:

(i) Purpose

The purpose of the Scheme is to enable the Company
to grant options to participants as incentives or rewards
for their contribution or potential contribution to the
Company and/or any of the subsidiaries.
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(ii)

Qualifying participants

Any person being an employee, director (including
executive director, non-executive director or independent
non-executive director), consultant, representative,
professional adviser, customer, business partner, joint
venture partner, strategic partner, landlord or tenant
of, or any supplier or provider of goods or services to,
the Company or any subsidiary, and any trustee(s) of a
discretionary trust of which one or more beneficiaries
belong to any of the abovementioned category(ies) of
persons.

(iii) Maximum number of shares

(iv)

44

The total number of shares available for issue under the
Scheme is 80,470,023 which is 9.83% of the issued
share capital of the Company as at the date of this
Annual Report.

Maximum entitlement of each qualifying participant

No qualifying participant shall be granted any options
which, if exercised in full, would result in such person’s
maximum entitlement exceeding 1% of the aggregate
number of shares for the time being issued and issuable
under the Scheme in the 12-month period up to and
including the proposed grant date unless such grant
is approved in advance by the shareholders in general
meeting.

No qualifying participant who is a substantial shareholder
or an independent non-executive director of the
Company, or any of their respective associates shall be
granted any options, which, if exercised in full, would
result in the shares issued and issuable to such person
under the Scheme in the 12-month period up to and
including the proposed grant date for such options,
unless such grant of options is approved in advance by
the shareholders of the Company in general meeting:

(@) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the number
of shares then in issue; and
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(b) having an aggregate value, based on the closing
price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheets on each relevant date on
which the grant of such options is made to such
person under the relevant scheme, in excess of
HK$5 million.

(v) Option period

In respect of any particular option, such period
commencing on the date of grant or such later date as
the directors may decide and expiring on such date as
the directors may determine, such period not to exceed
10 years from the date of grant.

(vi) Acceptance of offer

An offer of the grant of an option shall remain open for
acceptance for a period of 30 days from the date of
the letter containing the grant. An offer of the grant of
the option shall be regarded as having been accepted
when the duplicate of the grant letter duly signed by
the grantee together with a remittance in favour of the
Company of HK$1.00 by way of consideration for the
grant thereof is received by the Company.

(vii) Subscription price

The subscription price in respect of any particular option
shall be such price as the directors may determine at the
date of grant of the relevant option but shall be at least
the highest of:

(@) The closing price of the Company’s shares as stated
in the daily quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange
on the date of grant, which must be a business day;

(b) The average closing price of the Company’s shares
as stated in the daily quotations sheets of the Stock
Exchange for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant; and

(c) The nominal value of the Company’s shares.
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(vii) The remaining life of the Scheme

The directors shall be entitled at any time within 10 years
commencing on 22 May 2012 to offer the grant of an
option to any qualifying participants.

No share options were outstanding as at 1 January 2017
and 31 December 2017. No share options were granted,
exercised, cancelled or lapsed during the year.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the
date of this report were:

Mr. Li Haifeng (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
— appointed as Chief Executive Officer on 1 April 2017

Mr. Wang Ke (Vice President)
— Appointed on 19 March 2018
Mr. Lee Sheng Kuang, James*
— re-designated from an executive director
to a non-executive director on 1 April 2017
Mr. Tang Chak Lam, Charlie
— ceased appointment on 1 January 2018
Mr. Liu Run*
— resigned on 30 June 2017
Ms. Su Zhengyu*
— resigned on 24 March 2017
Mr. Yau Wing Yiu*
Mr. Zhang Zhenyi#
— appointed on 24 March 2017
Ms. Zheng Xianzhi#
— appointed on 30 June 2017

* Non-Executive Director
# Independent Non-Executive Director

In accordance with bye-law 86(2) of the Company’s Bye-
laws, Mr. Wang Ke and Ms. Zheng Xianzhi shall retire from
office at the forthcoming annual general meeting and, being
eligible, will offer themselves for re-election.
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In accordance with bye-law 87 of the Company’s Bye-
laws, Mr. Li Haifeng and Mr. Zhang Zhenyi shall retire from
office by rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

Mr. Tang Chak Lam, Charlie ceased appointment on
1 January 2018 as an executive director and a member
of each of the remuneration committee and investment
committee of the Company. Mr. Tang Chak Lam, Charlie has
confirmed that he has no disagreement with the Board and
nothing relating to the cessation of those positions needed
to be brought to the attention of the shareholders of the
Company.

Mr. Yau Wing Yiu, Mr. Zhang Zhenyi and Ms. Zheng Xianzhi
are independent non-executive directors of the Company
and all of them were appointed for a three-year term. The
board of Directors of the Company has received annual
confirmations of independence from each of the independent
non-executive directors of the Company pursuant to Rules
3.13 of the Listing Rules and as at the date of this annual
report still considers them to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS

Mr. Li Haifeng
Chairman & Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Li Haifeng, aged 47, was appointed as the Chairman and
an executive director in June 2011 and is the Chairman of
both the Nomination Committee and Investment Committee
of the Company. He was also appointed as a Chief Executive
Officer of the Company in April 2017. Mr. Li is the sole
director of Dragon Peace Limited, a substantial shareholder
of the Company. He is responsible for overall corporate and
business development and strategic direction of the Group,
and provides leadership for the board of directors of the
Company. Mr. Li has extensive experience in information
technology and waste water treatment industries. He is
currently an executive director and a vice president of Beijing
Enterprises Water Group Limited (“BEWG”) (a company
listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange; stock
code: 371) and the chairman of the Supervisory Committee
of BEWG Environmental Group Co., Ltd., a wholly owned
subsidiary of BEWG, and is mainly responsible for both the
PRC and overseas water markets. Mr. Li holds a Bachelor
degree in Law from the Faculty of Law in Peking University in
1992,
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Mr. Wang Ke
Vice President

Mr. Wang Ke, aged 33, has been appointed as an executive
director and vice president since March 2018 and is a
member of each of the Remuneration Committee and
Investment Committee. He was appointed as a non-
executive director of Kong Sun Holdings Limited (stock
code: 295), a company listed on the main board of the
Stock Exchange on 14 November 2017. Mr. Wang has
over seven years of experience in the field of Investment.
From August 2010 to August 2011, he was an investment
manager in China Kingho Energy Group Co., Ltd. Mr. Wang
also held a position as an investment manager in China
Gas Holdings Limited (stock code: 384), a company listed
on the main board of the Stock Exchange during the the
period of January 2014 to August 2014. He was a senior
vice president at Pohua JT Management Limited from 2014
to 2016. Mr. Wang has been a director of Magic Assets
Limited, a company providing investment and finance
consultancy services, since February 2015. He holds a
Master of Arts in Global Business Management from the City
University of Hong Kong.

Mr. Lee Sheng Kuang, James
Non-Executive Director

Mr. Lee Sheng Kuang, James, aged 71, is a founder of the
Group. He was the Managing Director and a member of
the Investment Committee of the Company prior to his re-
designation from an Executive Director to a Non-executive
Director in April 2017, and was responsible for all day-
to-day corporate management matters and planning and
developing the Group’s strategy. Mr. Lee has over thirty
years of experience in the manufacture and distribution of
apparel products.
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Mr. Yau Wing Yiu
Independent Non-Executive Director

Mr. Yau Wing Yiu, aged 51, was appointed as an
independent non-executive director in July 2011 and is the
Chairman of both the Audit Committee and Remuneration
Committee and a member of the Nomination Committee
of the Company. He has extensive experience in financial
management, corporate finance and investment. Mr. Yau
was the partner and chief financial officer of AID Partners
Capital Limited which is a private equity investment fund.
Mr. Yau also worked for various listed companies in Hong
Kong and overseas and a number of international investment
banks. He was an executive director, independent non-
executive director and chief financial officer of China
Everbright Water Limited (formerly known as HanKore
Environment Tech Group Limited), whose shares are listed
on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (stock
code: U9E). Mr. Yau is a member of both American Institute
of Certified Public Accountant and Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountant. He holds a Master Degree of
Business Administration in Finance from The Hong Kong
University of Science and Technology, Graduate School of
Business and a BA (Hons) in Business Studies from The City
University of Hong Kong.

Mr. Zhang Zhenyi
Independent Non-Executive Director

Mr. Zhang Zhenyi, aged 37, was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of the Company
in March 2017 and is a member of each of the Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committee of the Company. He has been appointed as
an executive director, chief financial officer, authorized
representative and authorized person of Wan Kei Group
Holdings Limited (a company listed on the main board of
the Stock Exchange; stock code: 1718) with effect from
5 January 2018. He has extensive experience in financial,
risk and investment management. From 2012 to end of
2016, Mr. Zhang was the chief financial officer of EACHWAY
Fashion Group (Shenzhen) Limited and was responsible for
supervising and managing the group’s financial, internal
control and investment management matters. Prior to that,
he served as the finance in charge and project in charge
of an automobile group in PRC and a consulting firm listed
on the Stock Exchange. Mr. Zhang holds qualifications as
a Certified Public Accountant, Senior International Finance
Manager and Senior Accountant in the PRC. He obtained a
Master Degree of Business Management from University of
Science and Technology Beijing in 2011.
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Ms. Zheng Xianzhi
Independent Non-Executive Director

Ms. Zheng Xianzhi, aged 34, was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of the Company in June
2017 and is a member of each of the Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee of
the Company. She has over ten years of experience in
the legalfield practicing both as an attorney in New York
and a registered foreign lawyer in Hong Kong. Ms. Zheng
worked in Commerce & Finance Law Offices in Beijing and
was responsible for mergers and acquisitions and initial
public offerings. She was also an International Legal Project
Manager of Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP
and had been in charge of various legal and compliance
works for listed companies including Chinese state-owned
enterprises and investment banks. She is currently a
registered foreign lawyer of an international law firm in Hong
Kong and was admitted to The People’s Republic of China
Bar and New York State Bar Association. Ms. Zheng holds a
Bachelor of Law from North China University of Technology
in the PRC as well as a Master of Law from both University
of International Business and Economics in the PRC and
Duke University in the United States of America.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the directors who are proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract
with the Company which is not determinable within one
year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND
CONTRACTS THAT ARE SIGNIFICANT IN
RELATION TO THE COMPANY’S BUSINESS

No transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance
in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company’s
subsidiaries, fellow subsidiaries or its parent company was
a party and in which a director of the Company and the
director’s connected party had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at
any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the directors of the Company has engaged in or
were interested in any business which competed or was
likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the
business of the Group during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’

INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY

SPECIFIED UNDERTAKING OF THE COMPANY
OR ANY OTHER ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 December 2017, the interests of the directors of
the Company in the shares of the Company as recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company under
section 352 of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (the “SFQO”) or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers (the “Model Code”) were as follows:

Long positions in the ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each

in the share capital of the Company

EFRESTRASREASE
RS EMEAE RN TR
fib 77 6 B8 R B 2 B 1 - AHI A A 1
REEEZEER HiKkE

RZB—+E+-_A=+—8 HBHEZ
HEREBEGEMN([FHLRBEKG])E
XVER B2 EARRBATHFEZE
MRS IR ET BT AESTETT
BHER HEEESFR] ([ZESFA]) MR
NAINBRABELZBN NARES
BEARRBRMDZERIOT

NAEAATIBRAPEBRE(E1I0ETZE
BERzZzEE

Number of shares held

RERHBHAE
Percentage of
Personal Corporate Total issued share
Name of director Capacity interests interests interests capital
EE#T
BBz 54 AR ATER ‘R & N=R 4
Mr. Li Haifeng Interest of - 404,944,690 404,944,690 49.50
ZEi%E a controlled (Note)
corporation \
REHEE R (P aE)
Beneficial owner 9,664,706 - 9,664,706 1.18
ERBEAA
Mr. Lee Sheng Kuang, James  Beneficial owner 500,000 - 500,000 0.06
FhAtE EaEEA
Mr. Tang Chak Lam, Charlie Beneficial owner 1,058,824 - 1,058,824 0.12
HERLE EaiEA
Mr. Yau Wing Yiu Beneficial owner 698,235 - 698,235 0.08
Rk IR & EaEEA

Note: The shares were held by Dragon Peace Limited, which was wholly

owned by Mr. Li Haifeng.

MEE: %5 A% B Dragon Peace Limited#5 4 « i
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All the interests stated above represent long positions. Save
as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the
Company, its subsidiaries, its fellow subsidiaries, its parent
company or its other associated corporations a party to any
arrangement to enable the directors and chief executives
of the Company (including their spouse and children under
18 years of age) to hold any interests or short positions in
the shares or underlying shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or its specified undertakings or other associated
corporation.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

The register of substantial shareholders required to be
kept by the Company under section 336 of Part XV of the
SFO shows that as at 31 December 2017, the Company
had been notified of the following substantial shareholders’
interests and short positions, being 5% or more of the
Company’s issued share capital. These interests are in
addition to those disclosed above in respect of the directors
and chief executives.

Long positions in the ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each
in the share capital of the Company
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Percentage of

Number of issued share
Name of shareholder Capacity shares capital
=8 R HE#1T
BEZ8E g4 303 4= AT
Dragon Peace Limited Beneficial owner 404,944,690 49.50
(Note)
BB A (HMg5E)

Note: The shares were held by Dragon Peace Limited, which was wholly
owned by Mr. Li Haifeng. These interests were duplicated with
the interests of Mr. Li Haifeng as disclosed in the section headed
“DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND/OR
SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY SPECIFIED
UNDERTAKING OF THE COMPANY OR ANY OTHER ASSOCIATED
CORPORATION”,
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All the interests stated above represent long positions.
Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2017, none
of the substantial shareholders, other than directors or
chief executives, of the Company had any interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company
as recorded in the register required to be kept under section
336 of Part XV of the SFO.

INTERESTS OF OTHER PERSONS

Save as disclosed in the sections headed “DIRECTORS’
AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’' INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT
POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY SPECIFIED
UNDERTAKING OF THE COMPANY OR ANY OTHER
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION” and “SUBSTANTIAL
SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS
IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY” above, the register required to be kept under
section 336 of Part XV of the SFO shows that as at 31
December 2017, the Company had not been notified of any
other person who had an interest or short position in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Company were entered into or existed during
the year.

CHANGE IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTOR

The change in the information of director of the Company,
which is required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1)
of the Listing Rules, is as follows:

On 5 January 2018, Mr. Zhang Zhenyi, an independent
non-executive director of the Company, was appointed
as an executive director, chief financial officer, authorized
representative and authorized person of Wan Kei Group
Holdings Limited (a company listed on the main board of the
Stock Exchange; stock code: 1718).

Save as disclosed above, there is no other information
required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the
Listing Rules.
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MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS FTEHEERER
The percentages of purchases and sales for the year AEBTEZEHEBHEEFNREANMEZ
attributable to the Group’s major suppliers and customers KEREERLLIT
are as follows:
()  Purchases g
— the largest supplier —mAHER 34.3%
— five largest suppliers in aggregate —hAREEFEE 74.6%
(i)  Sales HE
— the largest customer —HmAEP 95.9%
— five largest customers in aggregate —REREP&R 100%

None of the directors, their associates or any shareholder
of the Company (which to the knowledge of the directors
owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had an
interest in the major suppliers or customers.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the directors of
the Company, as at the date of this Annual Report, it is
confirmed that there is sufficient public float of at least 25%
of the Company’s issued shares.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Bye-laws or the Laws of Bermuda.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION OF BUSINESS
REVIEW

Addition information of business review is set out on pages
12 to 22 under Management Discussion and Analysis of this
Annual Report.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

Pursuant to the Company’s Bye-laws, Directors shall be
indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and
profits of the Company from and against all actions, costs,
charges, losses, damages and expenses which they shall
or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done,
concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their
duty, or supposed duty provided that this indemnity shall not
extend to any matter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty
which may attach to the Directors. Such provisions were
in force during the year ended 31 December 2017 and
remained in force as of the date of this report.

AUDITOR

The financial statements have been audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers who retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment in the forthcoming Annual
General Meeting.

On behalf of the Board
Wang Ke
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 22 March 2018
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=
pwc
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

CARRY WEALTH HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Carry Wealth
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the

“Group”) set out on pages 64 to 144, which comprise:

e the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December
2017;

e the consolidated income statement for the year then
ended;

e the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for
the year then ended;

e the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the
year then ended;

e the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then
ended; and

e the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which
include a summary of significant accounting policies.
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PricewaterhouseCoopers, 22/F Prince’s Building, Central, Hong Kong
T: +852 2289 8888, F: +852 2810 9888, www.pwchk.com
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Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2017, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the
Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with the Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matter is the matter that, in our professional
judgment, was of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. This
matter was addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on this matter.

Key audit matter identified in our audit is summarised as
follows:

e |mpairment review of investment in a joint venture
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Key Audit Matter
FASEETEIE

R &

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BT R R REEIE

Impairment review of investment in a joint venture

R—RAEEEZRENBER:

29 Y

Refer to Note 4 and 16 to the consolidated
financial statements

2R E P IEREWT4R%16

As at 31 December 2016, the carrying amount
of investment in a joint venture amounted to
HK$20,978,000, of which HK$16,740,000
represented goodwill. For the year ended 31
December 2017, the Group has shared losses
arising from this joint venture amounted to
HK$5,331,000. The primary reasons for the
losses incurred for the year ended 31 December
2017 was a deterioration in the operation of the
joint venture as well as significant write-off of
inventories. With consecutive losses recorded for
the past two years, this is considered to be an
indicator of impairment.
RZE—RE+ZA=+T—H R—HE&a&L%E
ZERERBER-_TEATEENTERL AT
—FTREtTHEELREAE - BHE_ZT—tF
TZA=T—BLFE FTEEREELEIEE
BEIETHA=t=B—TET -BE_Z—+
FT_A=T"HLFEE4ABFBENTITZRAR
BEPREEMRABICAREERERE - BRNE
EhXEEMFHREHE SHEBEARENR -

03
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We have assessed and evaluated the impairment
assessment presented to the Board of Directors
on 30 November 2017 by validating market
development resulting in and the rationale behind
the impairment to supporting documents either
provided by management or through our own
research;
RIBEEEBREIBTEEFNTSERER B
AERATR_E—+F+—A=THREFEZ2
AR ERT L

Aside from performing analytical procedures over the
results of the joint venture, we have also compared
the current year’s results to last year’s budget to
confirm management’s determination that the joint
venture’s business performance was significantly
deteriorating;
RTHAEEREZEEETHOMRERIN BAMBR
FrREREAFNREETHEE UEREEERR
BEPEZFERFBEER(LNER-

Based on the procedures performed, we found
management’s impairment assessment to be
acceptable based on available evidence.
BERITHOIERR RMARLAEEERBERANZ
BHREN LB ES -
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Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
FREEE BT R R REEIE

Impairment review of investment in a joint venture

R—HAREEEZRENRBERR

In light of the above impairment indicator,
management applied judgements with reference
to the operational and financial information of the
joint venture to determine whether an impairment
on the investment was required. With a sharp
deterioration of the business performance from
the joint venture, management of the joint venture
was not able to develop a feasible alternative
business plan to pursue, resulting in a significant
scale down of the joint venture’s operations
during the year ended 31 December 2017. As
a result, the Directors of the Group has made
a full impairment against the carrying value of
the investment in a joint venture, amounted to
HK$15,647,000

ENHIR FMURET R BERELEGELENE
ERVBERMELHE NETERRTERREE
HRE BESLEEEBREARBIRL 620
FZERENARGTEH —ERTHEM IR B
BHE-_T—+tHF+T-_A=+—HLEFEREDLHE
EBRERL Bt SEEFERGERELR
BNREABETEERE RELA—THA N TH
BtTBT-e

This area was of most significance to our audit
due to the significance of the investment in a
joint venture to the consolidated balance sheet
and the impairment charge to the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, as well as
the significant judgement involved in determining
whether or not the joint venture should be
impaired.

PR FTEHEMANEFMERA/EE  LIIHRN
R—HEeEtFRUReEERBERNMBEEZRY
FETEHBARKEEARZE URH-—H&%
EERETREY R EKRH -
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the
information included in the annual report other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for
overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with Section 90 of the Companies Act 1981
of Bermuda and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a
high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Group’s internal control.

e FEvaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

YA RE RS M BRRRE
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Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention
in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the
date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as
a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a
statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate
with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, related safeguards.

o2
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From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Chan Hin Gay Gabriel.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 22 March 2018

EEE R ABNEET  FIHEE W
LERHAMGE SV B BRNEBARR
EZ2 AmEKRERETSH RMAEX
AN mE R A E L FTIR  BRIDEBRE
RAAFLARBEEELTE  REHRR
FERMBRT  RA T E R IR
EPABREREKNEMRRBBE
AR RFVREFNEERS T
BB ER

HEARNBYZEMBENRITEBE AR
ARRBESTLE

BEBKEEMERR
S E -]

B —_E—NE=BA=-+=H

Annual Report 2017 E£E#H 68



Consolidated Income Statement

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #Z—=

—tF+-A=+—BLFE

A N E

2017 2016
—T—tFE _—_ZT—XF
Note HK$’000 HK$’ 000
B 5 FHET FET
Revenue Wz 5 244,590 123,105
Cost of sales 5 & AR 7 (204,512) (123,334)
Gross profit/(loss) EF,(8) 40,078 (229)
Other losses — net Hih &8 — %A 6 (11,960) (42)
Selling expenses HERX 7 (4,550) (2,972)
Administrative expenses TERAX 7 (42,339) (42,103)
Operating loss KL EE (18,771) (45,346)
Finance income & WA 8 44 108
Finance expense BhE 8 (175) -
Finance (expense)/income — net mE (X)) WA—FE (131) 108
Share of result of an associate JE(E— a2 ¥EE 15 (5,723) -
Share of result of a joint venture BlE—ReErEZIEE 16 (5,331) (3,628)
Loss before income tax bR TS T A B 18 (29,956) (48,866)
Income tax expenses gt 9 - (853)
Loss for the year attributable to RRRIERFEA
equity holders of the Company JEIRFEEEE (29,956) (49,719)
Loss per share attributable to the
equity holders of the Company FABRARARERIZTEA
for the year JEh 2 B REE
- basic (HK cents) — R () 10 (3.66) (6.08)
— diluted (HK cents) — 858 (B) 10 (3.66) (6.08)
The above consolidated income statement should be read in MR E WA RK BT —HHEE-

conjunction with the accompanying notes.

o4
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income #r& & U A R &K

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZE_—_Z—tF+_A=+—HILFE

2017 2016
—FE—tE —T—RF
HK$’000 HK$’000
TFHET FAT
Loss for the year FEEE (29,956) (49,719)
Other comprehensive income/(loss): A fth 2 E%A/(Eﬁ@”
Item that will not be reclassified subsequently /H\ # T e B
to profit or loss Bmik o HE
Fair value gain, net of tax: NAEWE - HBRIEIE :
— properties, plant and equipment —W% - BB M&E 3,072 502
Item that may be reclassified to profit or loss FA BB E B HH
Currency translation differences b 5 Z 5 1,135 (3,218)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) FEAMEE
for the year, net of tax WA (B1E)  MERBIE 4,207 (2,716)
Total comprehensive loss for the year RARERFEA
attributable to equity holders of EEFEZABERE
the Company (25,749) (52,435)

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income Fit4RE 2 U R 3 8 B I 5 — 015
should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 5o
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Consolidated Balance Sheet 4r 58 E &

As at 31 December 2017 R =ZF—+tF+=-F=+—H

2017 2016
—T—tFE T F
Note HK$’000 HK$’ 000
B 7 FHT FATT
ASSETS &aE
Non-current assets ERENEE
Properties, plant and equipment M- WEREE 14 51,890 50,263
Investment in an associate R—EBErEZRE 15 26,065 —
Investment in a joint venture R—EeErEIKRE 16 - 20,978
Land use rights T i s AR 17 9,881 12,849
Deposits and other receivable e & H b e W sk I8 20 15,406 655
Total non-current assets R EELE - 103,242 84,745
Current assets REEE
Inventories FE 19 50,260 25,127
Trade and other receivables B 5N E bW EkIE 20 52,077 28,657
Financial assets at fair value through & A BT ABRZEZ
profit or loss TEEE 21 3,518 108,242
Cash and cash equivalents RekReFEER 22 67,456 21,534
Total current assets RENEEHEE - 173,311 183,560
Total assets BEE 276,553 268,305
EQUITY HEx
Share capital & 2 26 81,804 81,804
Other reserves H b & 27 207,392 203,185
Accumulated losses ZEEE (86,752) (56,796)
Total equity MR 202,444 228,193
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Consolidated Balance Sheet 8 EEE&E X

As at 31 December 2017 R =ZF—+tF+=-F=+—H

2017 2016
—E—tF = F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B E TFi#&T FET
LIABILITIES BB
Non-current liabilities FERENEE
Deferred income tax liabilities BEMEHAR 23 8319 7,204
Current liabilities mEBAE
Trade and other payables 2 5 Kk E A ENFRIE 24 59,838 29,450
Borrowing BXR 25 5,952 -
Income tax payable JERTPTISHR - 3,368
Total current liabilities BB B 65790 32,818
Total liabilities L= R 74,109 40,112
Total equity and liabilities BEREAEE 276,553 268,305

The consolidated financial statements on pages 64 to 144 FOABEZFIMENGEER B REE B
were approved by the Board of Director on 22 March 2018 ExeR - N\F=ZA=-+=ZH#

and were signed on its behalf. R URRESSHEE-
Li Haifeng Wang Ke
FiBH EH#
Chairman Executive Director
*FE BITEF

The above consolidated balance sheet should be read in rtiR e EEBBEREBENIT —HH

B

conjunction with the accompanying notes. 8
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity #r &= & 8Kk

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ =T —+tF + A=+ —HIFE

Attributable to equity holders
of the Company
ADRIESRHFEAERS

Other
Share reserves Accumulated
Capital (Note 27) losses Total
R A HAfa ZEEE b
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TET FHT FHT FET
Balance at 1 January 2016 RZZE—RF
—R—HB&#% 81,804 205,901 (7,077) 280,628
Comprehensive loss ZHEEE
Loss for the year FEEE - - (49,719) (49,719)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) ~ EfZ2ERA / (E#E)
Fair value gain, net of tax: AAERE MBFE:

— properties, plant and equipment e ER =& - 502 = 502
Currency translation differences ERER - (3,218) - (3,218)
Total other comprehensive loss Hiz2EEBELERE = (2,716) = (2,716)
Total comprehensive loss PEBRRE 000000 = (,716) (49,7190  (52,435)
Balance at 31 December 2016 R-ZF—REF

+T-A=t+—H#&% 81,804 203,185 (56,796) 228,193

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity
should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity %r & # &= % 8 X

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HE T —tF+_A=+—HIEFE

Attributable to equity holders
of the Company

RATEGHE AEY
Other
Share reserves Accumulated
Capital (Note 27) losses Total
[ZS Hith 15 RitiE st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TERT TERT TERT FTERT
Balance at 1 January 2017 R-ZFB—tF
—A—B#&#% 81,804 203,185 (56,796) 228,193
Comprehensive loss ZHEEE
Loss for the year FEEE - - (29,956) (29,956)
Other comprehensive income Hih Z2EIRA
Fair value gain, net of tax: AffEes  MBRTE:

- properties, plant and equipment e ER NS - 3,072 - 3,072
Currency translation differences & Z% - 1,135 - 1,135
Total other comprehensive income Hip2mIR AL - 4,207 - 4,207
Total comprehensive income/(loss) ~ ZEMA/ (BER)#E - 4207 (29,956)  (25,749)
Balance at 31 December 2017 RZE—+F

TZA=t+—H#&# 81,804 207,392 (86,752) 202,444

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity LR s EEHREHEM T — 65
should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. B
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement 4 & IR € FE &k

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HE T —tF+_A=+—HIEFE

2017 2016
—F—tE —T—1F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 TFHET FAET
Cash flows from KEEHZHERE
operating activities
Net cash generated from/(used in) & EL(FTA)ZHES
operations 28 81,650 (88,744)
Income tax paid BEX SR (3,368) -
Interest paid B HE (175) -
Net cash generated from/(used in) &L EBEL(FTA)Z
operating activities WEFHE 78,107 (38,744)
Cash flows from BEFBHZRERE
investing activities
Purchase of properties, BEDE KRELEZE
plant and equipment (615) (3,685)
Proceeds from disposal of properties, £ &% - WE Kk &
plant and equipment Fr 15 38 17 11
Proceed from disposal of - Hb 5 R AT 15 3B
land use right 7,069 =
Other loan HE R (11,423) -
Investment in an associate R—HEBErERE (30,989) -
Investment in a joint venture R—HEeErEIERE - (25,581)
Interest received B F A 44 108
Net cash used in investing activities & /EBFTA 2B € F58 (35,897) (29,147)
Cash flows from financing activity R & ;EEI 2R KE
Proceed from bank borrowing IRITEFRFATENIA 5,952 —
Net cash generated from financing @ EEBELEZEE F58
activity 5,952 o
Net increase/(decrease) in cash RE&RALZEEBZ
and cash equivalents wEm S (RY) 48,162 (67,891)
Cash and cash equivalents at FReMRESFHEEE
beginning of the year 21,534 88,378
Exchange (losses)/gains X (B8 = (2,240) 1,047
Cash and cash equivalents FR\ERTLFHEEH
at end of the year 67,456 21,534

The above consolidated cash flow statement should be read FiiGEaR e R E R EEN T — 6
in conjunction with the accompanying notes. B
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GENERAL INFORMATION

Carry Wealth Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together, the “Group”) manufacture and trade garment products and
engage in securities investment. The Group has production facilities in
Mainland China.

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in Bermuda
and is listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The
address of its registered office is Clarendon House, 2 Church Street,
Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in thousands of
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$’000”), unless otherwise stated.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The basis of preparation and the principal accounting policies adopted
in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set
out below. These policies have been consistently applied for all the
years presented, unless otherwise stated. The financial statements
are for the Group consisting of Carry Wealth Holdings Limited and its
subsidiaries.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRS”) and requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance Cap. 622. The consolidated financial
statements have been prepared under the historical cost
convention, as modified by the revaluation of buildings (Note 2.7
and 14) and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(Notes 2.10 and 21), which are carried at fair value.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRS
requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also
requires management to exercise its judgement in the process
of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving
a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated
financial statements are disclosed in Note 4.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)
2.1.1 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures
(@) Amended standards adopted by the Group
The following amendments to standards have been
adopted by the Group for the first time for the financial

year beginning on or after 1 January 2017:

e Amendments to HKAS 7, “Statement of cash flows”

e  Amendments to HKAS 12, “Income taxes”

e Amendments to HKFRSs, “Annual improvements
2014 - 2016 cycle”

The adoption of these amendments did not have any
impact on the current year or any prior period.
(b) New and amended standards that have been issued

but are not effective for the financial year beginning 1
January 2017 and have not been early adopted

e Amendments to HKAS 28, “Investment in associates
and joint ventures”

e Amendments to HKAS 40, “Transfer of investment
property”!
e Amendments to HKFRS 1, “First adoption of

HKFRS™

e Amendments to HKFRS 2, “Classification
and measurement of share-based payment
transactions™!

e  Amendments to HKFRS 4, “Insurance contract” !

e HKFRS 9, “Financial instruments”!
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Notes to the Financial Statements B %% ¥ 3% ffi 5

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

2.1.1 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures (Continued)

(b)

New and amended standards that have been issued
but are not effective for the financial year beginning
1 January 2017 and have not been early adopted
(Continued)

e Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28, “Sale or
contribution of assets between an investor and its
associate or joint venture”®

e HKFRS 15, “Revenue from contracts with
customers”!

e HKFRS 16, “Leases™

e HK (IFRIC) 22, “Foreign currency transactions and
advance consideration”’

e HK (IFRIC) 23, “Uncertainty over income tax
treatments”?

! effective for annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2018

2 effective for annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2019

3 to be determined

() HKFRS 9, “Financial instruments”

HKFRS 9, “Financial instruments”, addresses
the classification, measurement and recognition
of financial assets and financial liabilities. It
replaces the guidance in HKAS 39 that relates to
the classification and measurement of financial
instruments. HKFRS 9 retains but simplifies the
mixed measurement model and establishes three
primary measurement categories for financial
assets: amortised cost, fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) and fair value
through profit or loss.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

74

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

2.1.1 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures (Continued)

(b) New and amended standards that have been issued
but are not effective for the financial year beginning
1 January 2017 and have not been early adopted
(Continued)

(i)

HKFRS 9, “Financial instruments” (Continued)

Investments in equity instruments are always
measured at fair value. However, management can
make an irrevocable election to present changes
in fair value in FVOCI, provided the instrument is
not held for trading. If the equity instrument is held
for trading, changes in fair value are presented in
profit or loss. For financial liabilities there are two
classification categories: amortised cost and fair
value through profit or loss. Where non-derivative
financial liabilities are designated at fair value
through profit or loss, the changes in the fair value
due to changes in the liability’s own credit risk are
recognised in FVOCI, unless such changes in fair
value would create an accounting mismatch in profit
or loss, in which case, all fair value movements are
recognised in profit or loss. There is no subsequent
recycling of the amounts in FVOCI to profit or loss.
For financial liabilities held for trading (including
derivative financial liabilities), all changes in fair value
are presented in profit or loss.

Based on an analysis of the Group’s consolidated
financial instruments as at 31 December 2017, the
directors do not expect the adoption of HKFRS 9 to
have a significant impact on the classification and
measurement of the Group’s financial assets and
financial liabilities.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

2.1.1 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures (Continued)

(b) New and amended standards that have been issued
but are not effective for the financial year beginning
1 January 2017 and have not been early adopted
(Continued)

(i)

HKFRS 9, “Financial instruments” (Continued)

HKFRS 9 also introduces a new model for the
recognition of impairment losses — the expected
credit losses (“ECL”) model, which constitutes a
change from the incurred loss model in HKAS 39.
HKFRS 9 contains a ‘three stage approach’, which
is based on the change in credit quality of financial
assets since initial recognition. Assets move through
the three stages as credit quality changes and the
stages dictate how an entity measures impairment
losses and applies the effective interest rate method.
The new rules mean that on initial recognition of
a non-credit impaired financial asset carried at
amortised cost a day-1 loss equal to the 12-month
ECL is recognised in profit or loss. In the case of
accounts receivables this day-1 loss will be equal to
their lifetime ECL.

Where there is a significant increase in credit risk,
impairment is measured using lifetime ECL rather
than 12-month ECL.

The new impairment model requires the recognition
of impairment provisions based on ECL rather than
only incurred credit losses as is the case under
HKAS 39. It applies to financial assets classified
at amortised cost, debt instruments at FVOCI,
contract assets under HKFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers, lease receivables,
loan commitments and certain financial guarantee
contracts. The historical credit losses are immaterial.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

76

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

2.1.1 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures (Continued)

(b) New and amended standards that have been issued
but are not effective for the financial year beginning
1 January 2017 and have not been early adopted
(Continued)

(i)

(ii

HKFRS 9, “Financial instruments” (Continued)

Based on the historical experience of the Group,
the default rates of the outstanding balances with
customers are low. Hence, the directors of the
Company do not expect that the application of
HKFRS 9 would result in a significant impact on the
Group’s impairment provisions.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the
application of HKFRS 9 would not have a material
impact on the Group’s financial position and results
of operations. The Group does not intend to adopt
HKFRS 9 before its mandatory date.

HKFRS 15, “Revenue from contracts with
customers”

HKFRS 15, “Revenue from contracts with
customers”, establishes a comprehensive framework
for recognising revenue from contracts with
customers. HKFRS 15 will replace the existing
revenue standards, HKAS 18 “Revenue”, which
covers revenue arising from sale of goods and
rendering of services, and HKAS 11 “Construction
contracts”, which specifies the accounting for
revenue from construction contracts. The Group is
currently assessing the impacts of adopting HKFRS
15 on its consolidated financial statements. Based
on the preliminary assessment, the Group has
identified the following area which is likely to be
affected:
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

2.1.1 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures (Continued)

(b) New and amended standards that have been issued
but are not effective for the financial year beginning
1 January 2017 and have not been early adopted
(Continued)

(ii

HKFRS 15, “Revenue from contracts with
customers” (Continued)

Timing of revenue recognition

The Group’s revenue recognition policy is disclosed
in Note 2.23. Currently, revenue arising from the
sales of goods is generally recognised when the
risks and rewards of ownership have passed to the
customers.

Under HKFRS 15, revenue is recognised when the
customer obtains control of the promised goods
or services in the contract. HKFRS 15 establishes
a comprehensive framework for determining when
to recognise revenue and how much revenue to
recognise through a 5-step approach: (1) ldentify
the contract(s) with customer; (2) Identify separate
performance obligations in a contract; (3) Determine
the transaction price; (4) Allocate transaction price
to performance obligations; and (5) Recognise
revenue when performance obligation is satisfied.
The core principle is that a company should
recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised
goods or services to the customer in an amount
that reflects the consideration to which the company
expects to be entitled in exchange for those
goods or services. It moves away from a revenue
recognition model based on an “earnings processes”
to an “asset liability” approach based on transfer of
control. HKFRS 15 provides specific guidance on
capitalisation of contract cost, license arrangements
and principal versus agent considerations. It also
includes a cohesive set of disclosure requirements
about the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty
of revenue and cash flows arising from the entity’s
contracts with customers.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

/3

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

2.1.1 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures (Continued)

(b) New and amended standards that have been issued
but are not effective for the financial year beginning
1 January 2017 and have not been early adopted
(Continued)

(ii

(i)

HKFRS 15, “Revenue from contracts with
customers” (Continued)

Timing of revenue recognition (Continued)

Management has performed a preliminary
assessment and expects that the application of
HKFRS 15 would not result in significant impact
on the Group’s financial position and results of
operations based on the current business model.
Meanwhile, there will be additional disclosure
requirement under HKFRS 15 upon its adoption.

HKFRS 16, “Leases”

The Group is a lessee of its buildings and motor
vehicles which are currently classified as operating
leases. The Group’s current accounting policy
for such leases is set out in Note 2.24. As at 31
December 2017, the Group has aggregate minimum
lease payments, which are not reflected in the
consolidated balance sheet, under non-cancellable
operating lease of approximately HK$3,519,000 as
set out in Note 29.

HKFRS 16 provides new provisions for the
accounting treatment of leases and will in the future
no longer allow lessees to account for certain leases
outside the consolidated balance sheet. Instead,
all long-term leases must be recognised in the
consolidated balance sheet in the form of assets
(for the rights of use) and lease liabilities (for the
payment obligations), both of which would carry
initially at the discounted present value of the future
operating lease commitments. Short-term leases
with a lease term of twelve months or less and
leases of low-value assets are exempt from such
reporting obligations.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

2.1.1 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures (Continued)

(b) New and amended standards that have been issued
but are not effective for the financial year beginning
1 January 2017 and have not been early adopted
(Continued)

(ii)

HKFRS 16, “Leases” (Continued)

The new standard will therefore result in an increase
in right-to-use asset and an increase in lease
liability in the consolidated balance sheet. In the
consolidated income statement, rental expenses
will be replaced with depreciation and interest
expense. Interest expense on the lease liability will
be presented separately from depreciation under
finance costs. As a result, the rental expenses under
otherwise identical circumstances will decrease,
while depreciation and the interest expense will
increase.

The combination of a straight-line depreciation of
the right-to-use asset and the effective interest rate
method applied to the lease liability will result in a
higher total charge to profit or loss in the initial year
of the lease, and decreasing expenses during the
latter part of the lease term. The new standard is
not expected to be applied by the Group until the
financial year ending 31 December 2019.

Other than the need to account for the above
mentioned operating leases on the consolidated
balance sheet, the directors do not anticipate that
the application of other new and revised HKFRSs
will have material impact in the consolidated balance
sheet.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF

80

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Principles of consolidation and equity accounting

2.2.1 Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over
which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity
when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power to direct the
activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from
the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They
are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for
business combinations by the Group (refer to note 2.3).

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains
on transactions between group companies are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment of the transferred asset.
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by
the Group.

2.2.2 Associate

Associates are all entities over which the Group has
significant influence but not control or joint control. This is
generally the case where the Group holds between 20%
and 50% of the voting rights. Investment in an associate is
accounted for using the equity method of accounting (Note
2.2.4), after initially being recognised at cost.

2.2.3 Joint arrangement

Under HKFRS 11, “Joint Arrangements”, investments in
joint arrangements are classified as either joint operations or
joint ventures. The classification depends on the contractual
rights and obligations of each investor, rather than the legal
structure of the joint arrangement.

Investment in joint ventures are accounted for using the equity
method (Note 2.2.4), after initially being recognised at cost in
the consolidated balance sheet.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Principles of consolidation and equity accounting
(Continued)

2.2.4 Equity accounting
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Under the equity method of accounting, the investments
are initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter to
recognise the Group’s share of the post-acquisition profits
or losses of the investee in profit or loss, and the Group’s
share of movements in other comprehensive income of
the investee in other comprehensive income. Dividends
received or receivable from an associate and a joint venture
are recognised as a reduction in the carrying amount of the
investment.

When the Group’s share of losses in an equity-accounted
investment equals or exceeds its interest in the entity,
including any other unsecured long-term receivables, the
Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has
incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the other
entity.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its
associate and joint venture are eliminated to the extent of
the Group’s interest in these entities. Unrealised losses are
also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of
an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies
of equity accounted investees have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by
the Group.

The carrying amount of equity-accounted investments is
tested for impairment in accordance with the policy described
in note 2.9.
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2.3 Business combinations
The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for all
business combinations, regardless of whether equity instruments
or other assets are acquired. The consideration transferred for the
acquisition of a subsidiary comprises the:

e fair values of the assets transferred;

e liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquired
business;

e equity interests issued by the Group;

e fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement; and

e fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the subsidiary
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

82

2.3

2.4

Business combinations (Continued)

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities
assumed in a business combination are, with limited exceptions,
measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. The
Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquired
entity on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis either at fair value
or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the
acquired entity’s net identifiable assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

The excess of the consideration transferred, amount of any non-
controlling interest in the acquired entity and acquisition-date fair
value of any previous equity interest in the acquired entity over
the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired is recorded
as goodwill. If those amounts are less than the fair value of the
net identifiable assets of the business acquired, the difference is
recognised directly in profit or loss as a bargain purchase.

Contingent consideration is classified either as equity or a financial
liability. Amounts classified as a financial liability are subsequently
remeasured to fair value with changes in fair value recognised in
profit or loss.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition
date carrying value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest
in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition
date. Any gains or losses arising from such remeasurement are
recognised in profit or loss.

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of investment.
The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Group on the
basis of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is required
upon receiving a dividend from these investments if the dividend
exceeds the total comprehensive income of the subsidiary in
the period the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of
the investment in the separate financial statements exceeds the
carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements of the
investee’s net assets including goodwill.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.5 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with
the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-
maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for
allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating
segments, has been identified collectively as the board of directors
that makes strategic decisions.

2.6 Foreign currency translation

@)

(b)

Functional and presentation currency

Iltems included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates
(the “functional currency”). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in HK$, which is the Company’s
functional and the Group’s presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of the transactions or valuation where items are re-
measured. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from
the settlement of such transactions and from the translation
at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the
consolidated profit or loss.

All foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in
the consolidated income statement within “administrative
expenses”.

Translation differences on non-monetary financial assets and
liabilities such as equities held at fair value through profit or
loss are recognised in profit or loss as part of the fair value
gain or loss. Translation differences on non-monetary financial
assets are included in other comprehensive income.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF

84

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.6 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(c) Group companies

The results and financial position of foreign operations (none
of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary economy)
that have a functional currency different from the presentation
currency are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

() assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented
are translated at the closing rate at the date of that
balance sheet;

(i) income and expenses for each statement of profit
or loss and statement of comprehensive income are
translated at average exchange rates (unless this is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the
rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case
income and expenses are translated at the dates of the
transactions); and

(iii) all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of any net investment in foreign entities, and
of borrowings and other financial instruments designated
as hedges of such investments, are recognised in other
comprehensive income. When a foreign operation is sold or
any borrowings forming part of the net investment are repaid,
the associated exchange differences are reclassified to profit
or loss, as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition
of a foreign operation are treated as assets and liabilities of
the foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF 2 i
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) (4
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2.7 Properties, plant and equipment

Buildings, comprising mainly factories and offices, are shown
at fair value, as determined by directors based on valuations by
external independent valuers which are performed on an annual
basis, less subsequent depreciation for land and buildings. Any
accumulated depreciation at the date of revaluation is eliminated
against the gross carrying amount of the asset and the net amount
is restated to the revalued amount of the asset. All other plant
and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses.

Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to
the acquisition of the items. Subsequent costs are included in the
asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the
item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance
are charged to the consolidated income statement during the
financial year in which they are incurred.

Increases in the carrying amount arising on revaluation of land
and buildings are credited to the fixed asset revaluation reserve in
equity. Decreases that offset previous increases of the same asset
are charged against fixed asset revaluation reserve through other
comprehensive income and all other decreases are expensed in
the consolidated income statement.

Properties, plant and equipment are depreciated at rates sufficient
to write off their cost or valuation to their residual values over their
estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The principal annual
rates are as follow:
Buildings Lower of 5% or estimated useful life
Shorter of lease term or estimated
useful life
Plant and machinery 10% to 40%

Furniture, office equipment and 10% to 40%
motor vehicles

Leasehold improvements

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than
its estimated recoverable amount.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

86

2.7

2.8

2.9

Properties, plant and equipment (Continued)

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the
proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised within
‘other losses — net’ in the consolidated income statement.

When revalued assets are sold, the amounts included in other
reserves are transferred to retained earnings through though other
comprehensive income.

Land use rights

The up-front prepayments made for leasehold land interests
recognised as operating leases and land use rights are expensed
in the consolidated income statement on a straight-line basis
over the periods of the lease or the land use right. When there
is impairment, the impairment is expensed in the consolidated
income statement.

Impairment of investments in subsidiaries, an associate and
a joint venture and other long-term non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life, for example, goodwill
— are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for
impairment. In addition, all assets are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is
recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the
higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in
use.

For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped
at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable
cash flows (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other
than goodwill that suffer an impairment are reviewed for possible
reversal of the impairment at each subsequent reporting date.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF 2 i
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) (4
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2.10 Investments and other financial assets

2.10.1 Classification 2101 238

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following
categories: at fair value through profit or loss and loans
and receivables. The classification depends on the purpose
for which the financial assets were acquired. Management
determines the classification of its financial assets at initial
recognition and re-evaluates this designation at every
reporting date.

(a) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

The Group classifies financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss if they are acquired principally for the
purpose of selling in the short term, i.e. are held for
trading. They are presented as current assets if they
are expected to be sold within 12 months after the end
of the reporting period; otherwise they are presented
as non-current assets. The Group has not elected to
designate any financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss.

(b) Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market. If collection of the amounts is
expected in one year or less they are classified as current
assets. If not, they are presented as non-current assets.
The Group’s loans and receivables comprise of trade and
other receivables and cash and cash equivalents.

2.102 Reclassification

The Group may choose to reclassify a non-derivative trading
financial asset out of the held for trading category if the
financial asset is no longer held for the purpose of selling
it in the near term. Financial assets other than loans and
receivables are permitted to be reclassified out of the held
for trading category only in rare circumstances arising from a
single event that is unusual and highly unlikely to recur in the
near term. In addition, the Group may choose to reclassify
financial assets that would meet the definition of loans
and receivables out of the held for trading or available-for-
sale categories if the Group has the intention and ability to
hold these financial assets for the foreseeable future or until
maturity at the date of reclassification.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.10 Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
2.102 Reclassification (Continued)

Reclassifications are made at fair value as of the
reclassification date. Fair value becomes the new cost or
amortised cost as applicable, and no reversals of fair value
gains or losses recorded before reclassification date are
subsequently made. Effective interest rates for financial assets
reclassified to loans and receivables and held-to-maturity
categories are determined at the reclassification date. Further
increases in estimates of cash flows adjust effective interest
rates prospectively.

2.10.3 Recognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade-date — the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are
derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the
investments have expired or have been transferred and the
Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of
ownership.

2.104 Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset
at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at
fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset.
Transaction costs of financial assets carried at fair value
through profit or loss are expensed in profit or loss.

2.11 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount
reported in the balance sheet when there is legally enforceable
right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention
to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously. The Group has also entered into arrangements
that do not meet the criteria for offsetting but still allow for the
related amounts to be set off in certain circumstances, such as
bankruptcy or the termination of a contract.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.12

2.13

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether
there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of
financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial
assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred only if there
is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more
events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a
“loss event”) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on
the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of
financial assets that can be reliably estimated.

For loans and receivables that were carried at amortised cost,
the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not
been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original effective
interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced and
the amount of the loss is recognised in the consolidated income
statement. If a loan or held- to-maturity investment has a variable
interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss
is the current effective interest rate determined under the contract.
As a practical expedient, the Group may measure impairment on
the basis of an instrument’s fair value using an observable market
price.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an
event occurring after the impairment was recognised (such as
an improvement in the debtor’s credit rating), the reversal of
the previously recognised impairment loss is recognised in the
consolidated income statement.

Inventories

Raw materials, work in progress and finished goods are stated
at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs of purchased
inventory are determined after deducting rebates and discounts.
Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method.
The cost comprises materials, direct labour, and an appropriate
proportion of variable and fixed overhead expenditure, the latter
being allocated on the basis of normal operating capacity. It
excludes borrowing costs. Net realisable value is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated
costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make
the sale.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

90

2.14 Trade and other receivables

2.15

2.16

217

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for goods
sold or services performed in the ordinary course of business.
Trade receivables are generally due for settlement within 30 to
60 days and therefore are all classified as current. If collection of
other receivables is expected in one year or less (or in the normal
operating cycle of the business if longer), they are classified as
current assets. If not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less allowance for impairment.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated cash flow
statement, cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand,
deposits held at call with bank and other short-term highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or less that
are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares
or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the
proceeds.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables represented liabilities for goods or
services provided to the Group prior to the end of financial year

which are unpaid. They are classified as current liabilities unless
payment is not due within 12 months after the reporting period.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.18

2.19

2.20

Borrowing

Borrowing is initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction
costs incurred. Borrowing is subsequently measured at amortised
cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction
costs) and the redemption amount is recognised in profit or loss
over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest
method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has
an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least
12 months after the end of the reporting period.

Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying
asset are capitalised during the period of time that is required
to complete and prepare the asset for its intended use or sale.
Qualifying assets are assets that necessarily take a substantial
period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is
deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they
are incurred.

Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax payable
on the current period’s taxable income based on the applicable
income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in
deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary
differences and to unused tax losses.

(a) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of
the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance
sheet date in the countries where the Group’s subsidiaries
operate and generate taxable income. Management
periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with
respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is
subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where
appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to
the tax authorities.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

92

2.20 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(b) Deferred income tax

(c)

Deferred income tax is recognised in full, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in
the consolidated financial statements. However, deferred
tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the initial
recognition of goodwill. Deferred income tax is not accounted
for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction other than a business combination that at the time
of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit
or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates
(and laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted by
the balance sheet date and are expected to apply when the
related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred
income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only if it is
probable that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise
those temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for
temporary differences between the carrying amount and tax
bases of investments in foreign operations where the Group
is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income
taxes assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the
same taxation authority. Current tax assets and tax liabilities
are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable right to
offset and intends either to on a net basis or to realise the
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss,
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case,
the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.21 Employee benefits

(i)

(ii)

(i)

Short-term obligations

Liabilities for employee entitlements to annual leave that are
expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the
end of the period in which the employees render the related
service are recognised in respect of employees’ services up
to the end of the reporting period and are measured at the
amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.
The liabilities are presented as current employee benefit
obligations in the balance sheet.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are
not recognised until the time of leave.

Pension obligations

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which
the Group pays fixed contributions into a separate entity. The
Group has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further
contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay
all employees the benefits relating to employee service in the
current and prior periods.

For defined contribution plans, the Group pays contributions
to publicly or privately administered pension insurance plans
on a mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis. The Group
has no further payment obligations once the contributions
have been paid. The contributions are recognised as
employee benefit expense when they are due. Prepaid
contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a
cash refund or a reduction in the future payments is available.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is
terminated by the Group before the normal retirement date, or
when an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange
for these benefits. The Group recognises termination benefits
at the earlier of the following dates: (a) when the Group
can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits; and (b)
when the entity recognises costs for a restructuring that
is within the scope of HKAS 37 and involves the payment
of terminations benefits. In the case of an offer made to
encourage voluntary redundancy, the termination benefits are
measured based on the number of employees expected to
accept the offer. Benefits falling due more than 12 months
after the end of the reporting period are discounted to present
value.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
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2.22

2.23

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable
that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation
and the amount can be reliably estimated. Provisions are not
recognised for the future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood
that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by
considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any
one item included in the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of management’s
best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present
obligation at the end of the reporting period. The discount rate
used to determine the present value is a pre-tax rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the liability. The increase in the provision due to
the passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

Revenue and other income

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable. It is recognised on the transfer of risks and
rewards of ownership, which generally coincides with the time
when shipment is made. Amounts disclosed revenue are net of
returns, rebates and discounts and after eliminating sales within
the Group.

The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can
be reliably measured, it is probable that future economic benefits
will flow to the entity and specific criteria have been met for each
of the Group’s activities as described below. The Group bases its
estimates on historical results, taking into consideration the type
of customer, the type of transaction and the specifics of each
arrangement.

Revenue from the sales of goods is the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable for the sales of goods in
the ordinary course of the Group’s activities. It is recognised on
the transfer of risks and rewards of ownership, which generally
coincides with the time when shipment is made. Revenue is shown
net of value-added tax, returns, rebates and discounts and after
eliminating sales within the Group.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.23

2.24

2.25

Revenue and other income (Continued)

Net gains/(losses) from security trading arise from the disposal
and remeasurement of financial instruments at fair value through
profit or loss and is included in “Revenue”. All transactions related
to securities trading are recorded in the consolidated financial
statements based on trade dates. Accordingly, only those trade
dates falling within the accounting year have been taken into
account.

Dividend income is recognised when the rights to receive payment
is established.

Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis, taking
into account the principal amounts outstanding and using the
effective interest method.

Leases (as the lessee)

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of
ownership are not transferred to the Group as lessee are classified
as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases, net
of any incentives received from the lessor, are charged to the
consolidated income statement on a straight-line basis over the
lease period.

Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group.

(i) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related
to the Group if that person:

(1) has control or joint control over the Group;
(2) has significant influence over the Group; or

(3) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Company or its parent.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
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2.25 Related parties (Continued)

(i)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

M

The entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and
fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of a
group of which the other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the reporting entity or an
entity related to the reporting entity. If the reporting entity
is itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers are also
related to the reporting entity.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (i).

A person identified in (i)(1) has significant influence over
the entity or is a member of the key management person.

2.26 Dividend distribution

2.27

Dividend distribution to the Company’s equity holders is
recognised as a liability in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements in the year in which the dividends are approved by the
Company’s shareholders.

Government grant

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair values
where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be
received and the Group will comply with all attached conditions.
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3 MHERER

3.1 MBRAKER

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1 Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
market risk (including foreign exchange risk, price risk and interest
rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk
management programme focuses on the unpredictability of
financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects
on the Group’s financial performance.

(a) Market risk

()

Foreign exchange risk

The Group has factories and offices in Hong Kong and
Mainland China. Operating expenses of the Group are
primarily denominated in HK$ and Chinese Renminbi
(“RMB”) whereas the Group’s revenue from sale of
goods are principally denominated in United States dollar
(“US$”). Thus, the Group is exposed to foreign exchange
risk arising from the translation of RMB to HK$.

In the opinion of the directors, the HK$ is reasonably
stable against the US$ under the Linked Exchange Rate
System, and accordingly, no sensitivity analysis with
respect to the US$ is performed.

The Group has foreign operations, whose net assets
expose the Group to foreign currency translation risks.

For the operations in Mainland China, majority of the
transactions were denominated in RMB. The conversion
of RMB into foreign currencies is subject to the rules and
regulations of the foreign exchange controls promulgated
by the Chinese government. The exchange rate of RMB
has fluctuated over the years. No financial instrument
was used for hedging purposes for the year. The Group
is closely monitoring the currencies exchange risk of
RMB and is looking for any opportunities to mitigate the
currency exchange risk of RMB.

As at 31 December 2017, if HK$ had strengthened/
weakened by 5% (2016: 5%) against RMB with all
other variables held constant, the Group’s net assets
at the year end and loss for the year would have been
HK$3,028,000/HK$3,028,000 (2016: HK$3,404,000/
HK$3,404,000) lower/higher, respectively, mainly as
a result of foreign currency translation differences on
translation of the foreign operations in Mainland China.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
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3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(@) Market risk (Continued)

(b)

(i) Price risk

The Group is exposed to equity securities price risk
arises from equity investments held by the Group and
classified on the consolidated balance sheet as financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss (Note 21).
The Group is not exposed to commodity price risk.
To manage its price risk arising from investments in
equity securities, the Group diversifies its portfolio, in
accordance with the limits set by the Group.

The Group’s equity investments for trading purpose are
publicly traded or quoted in Hong Kong.

As 31 December 2017, if the listed price, quoted price
or fair value of each equity investment classified as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss has
appreciated/depreciated by 10%, with all other variables
held constant, the Group’s loss for the year would have
been HK$352,000 lower/higher (2016: HK$10,824,000
lower/higher), mainly as a result of unrealised gains/
losses on equity securities classified as financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss.

(iii)  Interest rate risk

As at 31 December 2017 and 2016, the Group does not
has floating rate interest-bearing bank deposits.

Credit risk

Credit risk of the Group mainly arises from cash and cash
equivalents and security investments with banks and financial
institutions, as well as credit exposures to customers such
as trade receivables and other counterparty. The carrying
amount of these balances in the consolidated balance sheet
represents the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in
relation to its financial assets.

The Group’s bank deposits are placed with banks and
financial institutions which are highly reputable with
multinational presences. Investment transactions are
executed with financial institutions with sound credit ratings
and the Group do not expect any significant counterparty
risk. Management does not expect any losses from non-
performance by these banks and financial institutions as they
have no default history in the past.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

()

Debtors of the Group may be affected by the unfavorable
economic conditions and the lower liquidity situation, which
could in turn impact their ability to repay the amounts owed.
Deteriorating operating conditions for debtors may also
have an impact on management’s cash flow forecasts and
assessment of the impairment of receivables. To the extent
that information is available, management has properly
reflected revised estimate of expected future cash flows in
their impairment assessments.

The credit quality of the customers is assessed based on
their financial position, past experience and other factors. The
Group has policies in place to ensure that sales of products
are made to customers with appropriate credit histories.

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had a concentration
of credit risk given that the top 5 customers accounted
for 100% (2016: 99%) of the Group’s total year end trade
receivable balance. However, the Group does not consider
that the credit risk in relation to these customers is significant
because these customers are financially healthy and have no
history of default in recent years.

The Group performs periodic credit evaluations of its
customer and counterparty. The Group’s historical experience
in collection of trade and other receivables is good and
management is of the opinion that provision for uncollectible
receivables is not necessary as at 31 December 2017 and
2016.

Liquidity risk

The Group meets its day to day working capital requirements,
capital expenditure and financial obligations through cash
inflow from operating activities and issue of new shares.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities into
relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period
at the balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date.
The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual
undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within 12 months
equal their carrying balances, as the impact of discounting is
not significant.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 MBEKRERE (8
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 MBREKEER (&)

(c) Liquidity risk (Continued)

() nBELmE (&

Within
1 year
— R
HK$’000
FHET
As at 31 December 2017 R-F—tE+=-HA=+—8H
Trade and other payables B 5 & H th fE A 5118 59,838
Borrowing BE 5,952
65,790
As at 31 December 2016 RZE—R"F+=ZA=+—H
Trade and other payables B 5 R HE RN 58 29,450
3.2 Capital management 3.2 EXERE

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order
to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to
reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group
may adjust the amount of dividends paid to equity holders, return
capital to equity holders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce
debt.

The Group monitors its capital on the basis of the gearing ratio.
The gearing ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital.
Net debt is calculated as total borrowings less cash and cash
equivalents. Total capital is calculated as equity as shown in the
consolidated balance sheet.
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2017 2016

—E—tH T —RF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FHBT

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 22) RekRSEFEEE (KME22) 67,456 21,534
Less: borrowing (Note 25) B e (KisE25) (5,952) =
Net cash e F5 61,504 21,534
Total capital B 202,444 228,193
Gearing ratio BEXRBEEE -30.4% N/AT 33 F
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3 WMBEREE (&

3.2 Capital management (Continued) 3.2 EXEE(4H)

The group maintained a net cash position as at 31 December AEERZZTE—tFR=ZFT—A~"F+=

2016 and 2017, hence the gearing ratio is not applicable. There A=+—H#BAFERR - FA K

was no changes in the Group’s approach to capital management SEZEREE AW BRI ET -

during the year.
3.3 Fair value estimation 3.3 An{EZEE

The table below analyses the Group’s financial instruments carried TR ZFEARBEAAGERMES

at fair value as at 31 December 2017 by level of the inputs to ABHRERIMAEBR =T —LtF

valuation techniques used to measure fair value. Such inputs +TZA=+—HEREAAEBEINERZEHT
are categorised into three levels within a fair value hierarchy as B ABRHZA T =EARARESERD
follows: -

e Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical e MHRAEENABERRRERMSZ
assets or liabilities (level 1). WE(REARE) (F—HR) -

e Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that o BRE—RIZMEI TJEE (BIWE
are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is, sk (AAERITE)BEM
as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level BEXBEMNBAB(EZH) -
2).

e Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on e EBENABNBAERIIFKER
observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs) (level 3). BRNMSEE (BT BRg AL

B (B=#&) -
Level 1
FE—1k
HK$’000
FHET

Assets BE

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss BRAABEFABRRZEREE

- Trading securities —RPEF 3,518

At 31 December 2016, financial instruments at fair value held by RZZE—R"FE+ZA=1+—8" A&EFM

the Group were as follows: BERAREFEZERMIANT:

Level 1
F—H&
HK$’000
FHEIT

Assets BE

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss BRAABEFABRRZEREE

- Trading securities —RH5EBEH 108,242
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

Financial instruments in level 1

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets
is based on quoted market prices at the balance sheet date.
A market is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and
regularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry
group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and those prices
represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions
on an arm’s length basis. The quoted market price used for
financial assets held by the Group is the current bid price. These
instruments are included in level 1.

The carrying values of the Group’s other financial assets, which
are trade and other receivables and cash and cash equivalents
and financial liabilities, which are trade and other payables,
approximate to their fair values due to their short maturities.

Financial instruments in level 2

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in
an active market (for example, over-the-counter derivatives)
is determined by using valuation techniques. These valuation
technigues maximise the use of observable market data where it is
available and rely as little as possible on entity specific estimates.
If all significant inputs required to fair value an instrument are
observable, the instrument is included in level 2.

Financial instruments in level 3

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable
market data, the instrument is included in level 3.

The Group’s buildings classified under properties, plant and
equipment are carried at fair value at reporting period end. Details
of the fair value measurement of these land and buildings are
disclosed in Note 14.

/] 02 Carry Wealth Holdings Limited 1B E 1R AR X T
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RREERTHEENERTARRE
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AERMEMREBELRRZ G X508 &
oERAL EERBEREEREE
5 MZSFRERRBRRAFRZEEET
ZEBEMERTEZXSE  ZM SRR
RERER- AEEREEREEZT SR
ERERZERE - UWETABRKES —
Ao

BMRAER AR AEEZ KMo mE
EMNESREMERFTERR S KR
eEERB)REREE (AEZREM
FERNFRIR) 2 REERE R RERE -

RE-RKzE@MT A

BERRERT S EE &M T A (10
BAMTA T R) 2 ARE TR BEER M
BE WEHERMEEFNRUEREMS
BE(E) BRELKBEEBZEEM
Wit EEeRm T AZAREREZRA
BERMAERBAER  AlZzemI AT
AEZHko

RE=ZHzz@MTA

fid —JASk ZIAE A% AR IEBEA]
BEms8E AZemIAIAE=
o

AREDBADE  BERREZEET
B BRI A S B - X L0 R
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND

JUDGEMENTS

The preparation of financial statements requires the use of accounting
estimates which, by definition, will seldom equal the actual results.
Management also needs to exercise judgement in applying the Group’s
accounting policies.

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated. They are based
on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of
future events that may have a financial impact on the entity and that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

(a)

(b)

Income taxes and deferred tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong and
Mainland China. Significant judgement is required in determining
the provision for income taxes. The Group recognises liabilities
for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether
additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the current and deferred income tax
assets and liabilities in the period in which such determination is
made.

Deferred tax assets relating to certain temporary differences
are recognised as the management of the Group considers it
is probable that future taxable profits will be available against
which temporary differences or tax losses can be utilised. Where
the expectations are different from the original estimates, such
differences will impact the recognition of deferred tax assets in the
period in which such estimates have been changed.

Useful lives, residual values and depreciation of property,
plant and equipment

The management of the Group determines the estimated useful
lives, residual values and related depreciation charges for its
property, plant and equipment. This estimate is based on the
historical experience of the actual useful lives of property, plant
and equipment of similar nature and functions. The management
of the Group will increase the depreciation charge where useful
lives are less than previously estimated lives, it will write-off or
write-down technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that
have been abandoned or sold. Actual economic lives may differ
from estimated useful lives; actual residual values may differ from
estimated residual values. Periodic review could result in a change
in depreciable lives and residual values and therefore depreciation
expense in the future period.

FEET EE R

REMBHRRACRSHEE REEE &
ERERIENERER -ERENFTHAE
Iﬁﬁaﬁﬁ R Il o

5 R BT B T - E B ERE
HipEEARE  DIEEE AR TTEHE
BELHBYEAEEASEZERAAT
o

(a) FTEH REEHIE

REBRBMHERRPBKREZ FEH -

PRSI B IS 75 2 /E H E R HE - A
SEZREE BB RN PRHIE 2 B
ERARHIBRETEEMEEZEE i
B EEH < RRTIAR R EBAE D8R
SETR - ABEMEESSFEFELIRE
%WZE%&EL%~MQF&EE°

FRETHREZEZRERREE TN
AEEEEERSBRAUESHRER
75 i ) LA PR /B 4 81 B B Z B R R TR 1R
BrAERR - s % SR ERRMAFTEE
£ 2EEZRRTEHNMMERZRLER
HEE HEBMAEFTEER-

(b) Y% -BERREZTERFH  FERE
ERAE

AEEEEEREYE BERRERE
hEr A ERE S R EERBETER
X WA RREERASRAUZY
X BEAREBIERAERAFHZBE
EERMIED - AEEERE RN AIERF
H DB Z hRTF BRSBTS
B S OB R T LR E SRR IEME
BEZILENEE BEREEFHLE
BE S AME R F BT R BRI RE
BT EHFRGREEER TR
EHEHTEHA T EFHRRSRE
BEARMEN M EBCRRBE 2T EFH
XHBEMmER-
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and land use
rights

The Group assesses annually whether property, plant and
equipment and land use rights exhibit any indications of
impairment. The recoverable amounts, if required, are determined
based on value-in-use calculations or market valuations. These
calculations require the use of judgment and estimates.

Management judgement is required in the area of asset impairment
particularly in assessing: (i) whether an event has occurred that
may indicate that the related asset value may not be recoverable;
(i) whether the carrying value of an asset can be supported by
the recoverable amount, being the higher of fair value less costs
to dispose or net present value of future cash flows which are
estimated based upon the continued use of the asset in the
business; and (iii) the appropriate key assumptions to be applied
in preparing cash flow projections including whether these
cash flow projections are discounted using an appropriate rate.
Changing the assumptions selected by management in assessing
impairment, including the discount rates, could materially affect
the net present value used in the impairment test and as a result
affect the Group’s financial position and results of operations. If
there is a significant adverse change in the projected performance
and resulting future cash flow projections, it may be necessary to
take an impairment charge to the consolidated income statement.

Buildings in properties, plant and equipment carried at
valuation

Buildings in properties, plant and equipment, comprise mainly
factories and offices, are shown at fair values determined by
directors based on valuations performed by external independent
valuers on an annual basis. In arriving at the valuations, significant
judgement, assumptions and economic estimates have to be
made. The key assumptions applied in the fair value measurement
of the buildings are disclosed in Note 14.

/I 04 Carry Wealth Holdings Limited 1E E 1R AR X T

4 FARESHEERFE (&

(c)

(d)
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RFE: ((REEHBRAEBEREREE
BEREENE 2 F 4 (i) E &5 (R
RAERHERAR G BEEEBES
EREEMSRZARE S REREF
B _EZRSE)RARUAXKEERE
B RiVGERESRERAMBZEE
SRERRE BEZFREMERAZ
BIVEE FREEIR - B ERFHERER
BEZERR (BEMBREE)EFMEL.
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BWABKPFHRBERX -

ME- BERREPREEIRZET

ME BEIRBFZETIERRE TR
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ZEEHEARAEI R REEMGLE
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(e) Estimates used to assess the impairment of the investments
in a joint venture and an associate

At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews internal and
external sources of information to identify indications that the
interests in a joint venture and an associate which are significant
to the Group may be impaired or an impairment loss previously
recognised no longer exists or may have decreased.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated. An impairment loss is recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income whenever the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount.

The sources utilised to identify indications of impairment are often
subjective in nature and the Group is required to use judgement
in applying such information to its business. The Group’s
interpretation of this information has a direct impact on whether
an impairment assessment is performed as at any given reporting
date.

If an indication of impairment is identified, such information is
further subject to an exercise that requires the Group to estimate
the recoverable amount, representing the greater of the asset’s
fair value less cost to sell or its value in use. Depending on the
Group’s assessment of the overall materiality of the asset under
review and complexity of deriving reasonable estimates of the
recoverable amount, the Group may perform such assessment
utilising internal resources or the Group may engage external
advisors to counsel the Group in making this assessment.
Regardless of the resources utilised, the Group is required to
make many assumptions to make this assessment, including
the utilisation of such asset, the cash flows to be generated,
appropriate market discount rates and the projected market and
regulatory conditions. Changes in any of these assumptions could
result in a material change to future estimates of the recoverable
amount of any asset.

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group is principally engaged in garment manufacturing and trading
and securities investment.

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the
internal reporting provided to the board of directors.

4 FARESHEERFE (&

() R—EEEEER—EBELEZIRE
B4 3R B 5 1 P PR =2 fii &t

NEHEER  AEESEMARRINEE
FHIR - AR =B B SR BN AR E
MEBEANGELERBECEER
AIREH BB E - SREATE MR 2 RERE
THFEXRAEEERD -

fHFAEEM LR - A EEENR]
Yol &5 - 5 EMREEREE RO
- BIRGEE 2 HKRARKHERREE

B

RABBBRETRNOEBEERBE RS
THMHE SARBEREEBRAEHE
FHES B (R HI - ARE S FEE R R
BeERYERTNEMEERS AH
HEITRER (-

fi 7 e HERMEN R - AREE—FRIE
FHERKARTEENT KD SE
ENEMAEEN A ARER D EKRASL(E
BEMENRSEH RFAEELHRTE
ENEBEZUENTHRSEBEMETR
O SR AN  NREBE TR M ARE
BIRETTA B AT d SR B SN AR R AR
AR RAREREER - BRI BAE
R AKEERTEHHRELER SR
R BEAHEENERBEL SELN
Bend BEEMMSEREREATS
FREER - ZERR ML IR EE
AR ARYEMEET KOS
MEEHREAES -

5 WmkaBMEE

AEETERERNKHERE S UREFK

EENHNRBRENEESRHEZAMBRSE —
B2 AHmE -
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

The chief operating decision-maker has been identified as the board
of directors of the Group. Management has determined the operating
segments based on the reports reviewed by the chief operating
decision-maker that are used to assess performance and allocate
resources. The chief operating decision-maker considers the business
principally from the operations nature, with two segments identified:
garment manufacturing and trading segment and securities investment
segment.

The board of directors assesses the performance of the operating
segments based on a measure of adjusted operating results. This
measurement basis represented operating loss excluding material gain
or loss which is capital in nature or of non-recurring nature such as
impairment.

Weia & 5 BB & (48

TELEARAREWAR AL EEERE - B
BLIREBEEIBZEERRERM 2 HE (B
RAFERERSEER) EEEE M- &
EERRETENCEMEEREY  WAH
ME D & - RIKBLERE 5D BAREFRE

DEDe

EECRBECARCLEEEETHLEED
Bz RBE - WFAHEERRLCEBHBETIERRE
BEAMASELEHRE 2 ERNKEHER
(EME) o

Revenue recognised during the year is as follows: RERNER BT -
2017 2016
—E—tF T —RF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Garment manufacturing and trading: KRB ERES :
Sale of garment products $HE IR E fh 229,069 126,371
Processing income MIHA - 6,207
Sale of scrap materials HEBREYH 230 552
229,299 133,130
Securities investment: BHEEE
Fair value gain/(loss) on financial assets at BEARBFABRRZEREEAR
fair value through profit or loss BEls (Ei8) 15,044 (11,715)
Dividend income from listed equity securities B EmRAZFS ZKRERKA 247 1,690
15,291 (10,025)
244,590 123,105
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5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5 IKERDEBEFR ()
(Continued)

HE_Z—+tF+_A=+—BHLEEFEEER
T+ E+_A=Z+—B REBHIED

The segment information for the year ended and as at 31 December
2017 by business segment is as follows:

ZOEBERIT ¢
Garment
manufacturing Securities
and trading investment
segment segment Total
RARRIER
BS540 HHERENE st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHERT F#ERT FET
Revenue Iy z& 229,299 15,291 244,590
Reportable segment results Al 3RS D EBFEAR 599 6,826 7,425
Other losses — net HEfiEE—FE (11,960)
Corporate administrative expenses TETHAX (14,236)
Operating loss w E1E (18,771)
Finance income A& WA 44
Finance expense RERX (175)
Share of result of an associate FE(E—FIB S A (5,723)
Share of result of a joint venture EE—RHEeEREHEE (5,331)
Loss before income tax BRFTS BRI A (29,956)
Income tax expenses FrigBim =
Loss for the year FEEIE (29,956)
Garment
manufacturing Securities
and trading investment
segment segment Total
BRARBIER
B0 HHERENE st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THERT FHERT FTERT
Reportable segment assets AR E D EEE 172,543 8,196 180,739
Unallocated corporate assets TN EEEE 95,814
Total assets MEE 276,553
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5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5 WRERSEHBEE (B
(Continued)

The segment information for the year ended and as at 31 December HEZZT—XR"F+-A=+—HLEFEER
2016 by business segment is as follows: ZE-RETZA=1T—RH REBHHES
ZOBERMAT
Garment
manufacturing Securities
and trading investment
segment segment Total
PRI BLE R
Z 55 b BHREDH et
HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$’000
FHET FET FHEIT
Revenue U 25 133,130 (10,025) 123,105
Reportable segment results Al E D EPEE (12,107) (20,847) (32,954)
Other losses — net HMEE - FE (42)
Corporate administrative expenses ETHRAX (12,350)
Operating loss KB (45,346)
Finance income & WA 108
Share of result of a joint venture BiE—HEeEDEZER (3,628)
Loss before income tax KR P15 Rt Al ES 18 (48,866)
Income tax expenses Frig Az (853)
Loss for the year FEEE (49,719)
Garment
manufacturing Securities
and trading investment
segment segment Total
RR B EE R
Z 5 5 BHEBEDE T
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAET F&T
Reportable segment assets ARE D BEE 125,839 112,417 238,256
Unallocated corporate assets TN H T EEE 30,049
Total assets mEE 268,305

DEBERAMBRRARNG A E - E
BEREDBEEMDE -

Segment liabilities are measured in the same way as in the financial
statements. These liabilities are allocated based on the operations of
the segment.
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5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5 KERDHBEF (B
(Continued)

One (2016: one) external garment manufacturing customer contributed —HB(ZE—RF: —RB)INPRRRERP
more than 10% revenue of the Group. AL AB10% °

2017 2016

—B—tH T —RF

HK$’000 HK$’000

THET FHEIT

Customer A BEA 219,664 108,307

The following table sets out information about the geographical location TREVNEAAREB R RIEREEE 2

of the Group’s revenue and non-current assets. In presenting BABEER - 23 ERE  HERETHE

the geographical information, segment revenue is based on the RONEIR P 2 HIBALE - T EBIETRBN & E A
geographical location of external customers and segment non-current ERBEEZMIBME-

assets are based on the geographical location of the assets.

Revenue Non-current assets
I % FERENEE

2017 2016 2017 2016
—E—+tHF ZE—REF —E—+tF ZE—RF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET T T FHET FAT
United States of America E3e 139,688 75,321 - =
Mainland China PR A fE - 19,072 61,013 80,412
Europe B M 63,966 27,652 - =
Hong Kong BB 23,813 (6,962) 42,229 4,333
Rest of World 5 H fth 3 (= 17,123 8,022 - =
244,590 123,105 103,242 84,745
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OTHER LOSSES - NET

6 HhEE-FE

2017 2016
—E—tHF T —RF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET

Losses on disposal of properties, HEME BERRZH2EE
plant and equipment (104) (42)
Gain on disposal of a land use right & T A 2 s 3,685 =
Government subsidy BT # Bh 111 =

Impairment loss on investment in a joint venture R—EEELEZERE

(Note 16) W EE R (FizE16) (15,647) -
Other EHh (5) -
(11,960) (42)

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group shared a loss of
its joint venture amounted to HK$5,331,000. Such loss was incurred
as a result of an unsuccessful launch of joint venture's new product
resulting in significant write-off of inventories in 2017. Management
of the joint venture has tried but was not able to develop a feasible
alternative business plan to pursue following the unsuccessful product
launch, which resulted in a significant reduction in its operations
by the end of the year. In light of the above, following a careful
operation review considering the joint venture’s business prospect
and the market expectation conducted by management, the Directors
have decided to make a full impairment provision amounted to
HK$15,647,000 against its investment in a joint venture for the year
ended 31 December 2017.

/] 1 O Carry Wealth Holdings Limited 1E E 1R AR X T

HE_Z—+&F+-_A=+—HLFE &
EERESEDEZEE S T5,331,000%8
T EEEEERBRAECENERR
2017 BTN M B RTF & KR #E - B
EEMIRIN LR GECEZEBEEER
BHAFET—ErRIITHNESBSHAR B
HGENERBTA AR - ER LR
KEBEBRALCENEBISRMSER
EITTRERER EZRTHEZE - —tF
T A=+ HLEFEMNGECEREREE
15,647,000/ TLIE 2 BUR B B & -



EXPENSES BY NATURE

Operating loss is stated after charging the following:

Notes to the Financial Statements B %% 8 3% fff =

7 EMESBEZAX

REBREEMBRTIREZINT

2017 2016

—E—t#E —E—RF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET T

Raw materials used BERERZRME 105,073 57,732
Changes in inventories of finished goods and B mAkFEREBZFEEE

work in progress 15,483 2,855
Depreciation of properties, plant and equipment M- BEREZ#HIITE

(Note 14) (HizE14) 4,815 4,690
Amortisation of land use rights (Note 17) T A A 2 S (MIEE17) 309 330
Employee benefit expense EERFASZ (TREEEHE)

(excluding directors’ emoluments) (Note 12) (FFzE12) 74,602 60,810

Directors’ emoluments (Note 13) EEMe 5,357 6,011
Operating lease rentals — land and buildings KEHERS - THRIEF 3,046 3,524
Auditors’ remuneration 1% SR B &
— Audit services —EF R 1,473 1,294
— Non-audit services —FEEE IR 135 135
Securities management and performance fees BHEERRREBA 833 1,472
Securities brokerage and transaction fees BHELCLRRZER 539 429
Other Hit 39,736 29,127
Total cost of sales, selling expenses and HEKRN HERMI K

administrative expenses THRX B 251,401 168,409

FINANCE (EXPENSE)/INCOME - NET 8 BM&E(FAX) WA-FE
2017 2016
—E—t# —T—RF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Finance income: BB YA -
Interest income on short-term bank deposits HHRITERZFBMA 44 108
Finance expense: BMEMRY:
Interest expense on bank borrowing WITERZ A ERAXZ (175) =
Finance (expense)/income — net BmE (X)) WA-FE (131) 108

117
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INCOME TAX EXPENSES

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% (2016:
16.5%) on the estimated assessable profit for the year. The operation in
PRC is subject to Mainland China corporate income tax at the rate of
25% for the year ended 31 December 2017 (2016: 25%).

FifeBRA<

ERFNE TR IIBRERF R ERBOE F - ZH
£16.5% (ZF—/NF 1 16.5% ) T IR - &
E-T—+F+-_A=1+—RHALFEE FEKX
R TG EIROE% I E (Z T —/NF : 25% ) &

A B FEPTIS L -
The amount of income tax charged to the consolidated income HREWABRKENRZAGEREER:
statement represents:

2017 2016
—E—tH —E—REF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Underprovision in prior years NEFETR BB - 853

AEBGRAEHABEZIHEASHINRA &S
RERBRERZNETAREMEEZE

The tax on the Group’s loss before income tax differs from the
theoretical amount that would arise using the weighted average tax rate

applicable to losses of the consolidated entities: R R
2017 2016
—E—t#E ZE—RF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET F& T
Loss before income tax B ETIS i &8 (29,956) (48,866)
Tax calculated at domestic tax rates applicable to Bt FT#E B 5 2 E5 18 #2 & Hb i@ A i =R
losses in the respective countries FTEHIE (6,974) (9,585)
Tax effects of: HEge:
Share of loss of an associate Ah— &S EEE 944 =
Share of loss of a joint venture DME—EEEREEIE 1,333 907
Income not subject to tax AR Z WA (962) (2,868)
Expenses not deductible for tax AA Mz X 10,673 3,122
Underprovision in prior years ARTFEET Rz #E - 853
Unrecognised tax losses RERMIEEE - 8,424
Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses F A LART R R T IHE 18 (5,014) =
- 853
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9 INCOME TAX EXPENSES (Continued) 9 FRBFAX (&
The tax charge relating to components of other comprehensive income EHE MU AKX DB BRI REZ 0
is as following: T
2017 2016
—F—tF e A
Before Tax After Before Tax After
Tax charge tax tax charge tax

BRBiel BIRRIX BB KRBAT BEMAX BBE
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT TFTERXT FEx TAET  TET  TAET

Fair value gains on properties, W% BE &&ZEZ

plant and equipment NAEKE 4,097 (1,025) 3,072 669 (167) 502
Other comprehensive income HE 2 mEUA 4,097 (1,025) 3,072 669 (167) 502
Deferred tax (Note 23) EER (FI7E23) (1,025) (167)

10 LOSS PER SHARE 10 BRES1E

Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss attributable BREANBBEDREBERNAGESEE ARG
to equity holders of the Company by the weighted average number EHEBRAFABR BT EERRE Z METEH
of ordinary shares in issue during the year. Diluted loss per share HAE - BRESEBEBRSMBELE S
is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of shares MEBREEMROBERT  LHAELBRRM
outstanding to assume conversion of all dilutive potential shares. As BEHEAE -AREE—_E—+FE+ =8
there is no dilutive potential ordinary shares for the year ended 31 =+—BARBEZZT—X"F+=ZA=+—H
December 2017 and 2016, the diluted loss per share equals the basic LWEFE - AR BN M 1 L AR - AR

loss per share. SEEEERNERERERE-
2017 2016
—E—t#F —E—RF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Loss attributable to equity holders of the Company AR &z E AEIHE B (29,956) (49,719)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares EETERRRE 2 Nk T

in issue (thousands) (FAR) 818,042 818,042
Basic and diluted loss per share BREAREEER (FREMW)

(HK cents per share) (3.66) (6.08)

Annual Report 2017 EERE /] 1 8



Notes to the Financial Statements B %% 8 3% Fff =

11 DIVIDENDS

The Company has not declared any dividends for the years ended 31
December 2017 and 2016.

12 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (EXCLUDING
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS)

11 iz8

RRBAERBE_T—+tFR _F—RF
TZR=+—BHLEFEZRE-

12 EERFRAZ (FTEEEEMNE)

2017 2016

—E—tHF ZE—REF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET F& T

Wages and salaries Fe ke 69,753 55,942
Pension costs RIS A 4,849 4,868
74,602 60,810

No forfeited contributions to the mandatory provident fund scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) were utilised during the year (2016: Nil).

There was no contribution payable in relation to the MPF Scheme at
the year end (2016: Nil).

The Group operates/participates in the following pension and post
retirement plans:

()  The MPF Scheme for employees in Hong Kong, under which the
Group and its employee each make a monthly contribution to the
scheme at 5% of the qualifying earnings of the employee, subject
to a monthly cap of HK$1,500.

(i) The Group’s subsidiaries in Mainland China contribute
approximately 10% of the basic salaries of their employees to
retirement schemes operated by municipal governments. Other
than the mandatory contributions, the Group has no further
obligations for the actual pension payments or any post retirement
benefits. The retirement schemes are responsible for the entire
pension obligations payable to retired employees. In addition,
according to the labor law in Mainland China, the employer
is required to pay retirement benefits to the employees when
employment is terminated by the employer before the normal
retirement date.

/I 1 4 Carry Wealth Holdings Limited 1E E 1R AR X T
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() "REBEEMRZBESFERE A&
ErHEESEHEAREEAERALELZ
5%t BIEE AHR  ESAHFEL
PR %1,5007% IT ©

(i) NEBRPEREZMBARIZESSR
R & #910%[7) 1 BT 8 32 2 R R &L &)
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Notes to the Financial Statements B %% 8 3% fff =

13 BENEFIT AND INTEREST OF THE DIRECTORS
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

The remuneration of every director and the chief executive is set
out below:

For the year ended 31 December 2017:

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services as
a director, whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking:

Name of Director ESi Fees Salary

g

)

HK$'000 HK$'000

13 EEEMRER

(a) EBEREETBRASME

R
o
4t
el
)
i
)}
el
>_
0
N
=
k>
‘\g
i
=)
—

BE-F—+5+-A=+—AILEE:

REEARAREMNBARNEETRE 2
ATENRERMNZBE

Estimated  Employer’s
money value  contribution

Housing of other  to the MPF
allowance benefits(i) Scheme Total
HiiEFZ
e BESHE
REEZM fEiE.) E2E @it

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FHT FHT THT FHT FHET FHET
Chairman IE
Mr Li Haifeng FEEE (K225
(Appointed as chief MA—REZEAERTT
executive on 1 April 2017) BAE) 120 1,620 - - 18 1,758
Executive directors HITEZE
Mr Lee Sheng Kuang, James FHALE(RZF—LF
(Re-designated to non-executve M B — BT A EHITE
director on 1 April 2017) %) 28 707 540 29 - 1,304
Mr Tang Chak Lam, Charlie BERLE (RZT-N\E
(Ceased appointment —R—ARIEF)
on 1 January 2018) 120 1,444 - 53 18 1,635
Non-executive director HHITEE
Mr Lee Sheng Kuang, James FErEE(RZT—tF
(Re-designated on 1 April 2017) T A—BHF) 180 - - - - 180
Independent non-executive BUHHTEE
directors
Mr Liu Run ABEE (RZT—t&
(Resigned on 30 June 2017) NA=THEHE) 60 - - - - 60
Ms Su Zhengyu BiIFat (RZF—tF
(Resigned on 24 March 2017) =R TMBEF) 27 - - - - 27
Mr Yau Wing Yiu BxBEE 240 - - - - 240
Mr Zhang Zhenyi RRELE (RZF—1F
(Appointed on 24 March 2017) = A -+ HEZ) 93 - - - - 93
Ms Zheng Xianzhi BE8at (RZT—+&F
(Appointed on 30 June 2017) NA=THREZ) 60 - - - - 60
928 3,771 540 82 36 5,357
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13 BENEFIT AND INTEREST OF THE DIRECTORS
(Continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (Continued)

13 EEREAIRER (F)

() EERRBITBASME (8)

For the year ended 31 December 2016:

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services as

BE_Z-RFT_A=t—HLFE:

REERRFLEMBARERRE 2

a director, whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking: ATEMKER S :
Estimated Employer’s
money value  contribution
Housing of other to the MPF
Name of Director EEHY Fees Salary allowance benefits() Scheme Total
Hin @z
g% RESHE
ok M FEREEH EEN) EEHN @zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FET FET T TAL
Chairman B
Mr Li Haifeng TEREL 120 920 - 37 18 1,095
Executive directors HiTEE
Mr Lee Sheng Kuang, James TERALE
(Chief executive) (BBTHAR) 120 539 2,160 101 - 2920
Mr Tang Chak Lam, Charlie HERLE 120 1,326 - 52 18 1,516
Independent non-executive BUHHITEE
directors
Mr Liu Run AEEE 120 - - - - 120
Ms Su Zhengyu BIFat (RZE—RF
(Appointed on 4 July 2016) tANAEZRAE) 59 - - - - 59
Mr Yau Wing Yiu EEME%E 240 - - - - 240
Mr Tong Tang, Joseph BREE (RZE—FF
(Ceased appointment tARBELEER)
on 4 July 2016) 61 - - - - 61
840 2,785 2,160 190 36 6,011

(i)  Other benefits include leave pay and share option benefits
and housing allowances.

During the year, no director has waived any emoluments (2016:

Nil).
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Notes to the Financial Statements B %% 8 3% fff =

13 BENEFIT AND INTEREST OF THE DIRECTORS
(Continued)

(b) Directors’ material interests in transactions, arrangements
or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation
to the Group’s business to which the Company was a party and in
which a director of the Company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year.

(c) Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the
Group for the year include three (2016: three) directors whose
emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented above. The
emoluments payable to the remaining two (2016: two) individuals
during the year are as follows:

13 EEEMRERE (])

(b)

(c)

BEENXS RH#SEHZEXER

RRAFEEHEN AR A K EAE A B
RAEGT MEBAREXBHERNM@E
B A FZ 48 SR Bk F AR s A0 8
BRZRG  RHRANTEERREEE
BEKRHNH -

AEmEHMAL

ERN AEBZAERSFTHALTEE=
FH(ZE—RF =ZR)FEE HEZM
SER LAY - FAEMNTEAT
ME(ZE-—RF:-MEB)ALTZHMEW
T

2017 2016
—E—+tHF —T—RF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET

Basic salaries, housing allowances, EXFe EEEM-
other allowances and benefits-in-kind HE REY &= 1,681 1,409
Contributions to the MPF Scheme BiES B 36 36
1,717 1,445

The emoluments fell within the following bands:

BegEEmT :

Number of individuals

AE
2017 2016
—E—tHF T —RF
Emolument bands e &=
HK$500,000 — HK$999,999 500,000/ 7£-999,9997% 7T 2 2
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14 PROPERTIES, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

14 Y% -BERRE

Furniture,
office
equipment
Leasehold Plant and and motor
Buildings  improvements machinery vehicles Total
R BAE
Ed HE%E BER#E RERRE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TEL TET TEL TEL
At 1 January 2016 RZE—~"45-A-AH
Cost or valuation KA E 47,229 26,626 20,881 29,206 123,942
Accumulated depreciation and 2HFERAME
impairment - (23,788) (20,347) (27,044) (71,179)
Net book amount EmFE 47,229 2,838 534 2,162 52,763
Year ended 31 December 2016 HE-E—1E
TZAZT-HIEEE
Opening net book amount HEmFE 47,229 2,838 534 2,162 52,763
Additions NE - 1,829 42 1,814 3,685
Disposals HE - - - (53) (53)
Depreciation & (3.521) (#14) ) (754) (4,690)
Currency translation difference ERER (1,821) (224) (43) 29) 2,11)
Revaluation surplus EffRH 669 - - - 669
Closing net book amount BREEFE 42,556 4,029 532 3,146 50,263
At 31 December 2016 RZZ-~F+ZA=+-A
Cost or valuation KA E 42,556 26,241 19,207 28,457 116,551
Accumulated depreciation and BHTERAME
impaiment - (22,212) (18,765) (25,311) (66,288)
Net book amount RHFE 42,556 4,029 532 3,146 50,263
Year ended 31 December 2017 BE-T-t%
TZRA=t-BLEE
Opening net book amount BOERFE 42,556 4,029 532 3,146 50,263
Additions RE - 26 278 311 615
Disposals e - (45) - (76) (121)
Depreciation ik (3,503) (508) (15) (789) (4,815)
Currency translation difference EHESE 1,375 198 57 221 1,851
Revaluation surplus EffBEH 4,097 = = = 4,097
Closing net book amount HREAFE 44,525 3,700 852 2,813 51,890
At 31 December 2017 RZZ—+F+-A=1+-H
Cost or valuation KA E 44,525 27,640 20,973 29,883 123,021
Accumulated depreciation and RHFERAME
impairment - (23,940) (20,121) (27,070) (71,131)
Net book amount EmFE 44,525 3,700 852 2,813 51,890
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Notes to the Financial Statements B %% 8 3% fff =

14 PROPERTIES, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Depreciation of HK$51,000 (2016: HK$55,000) has been expensed
to selling expenses and HK$4,764,000 (2016: HK$4,635,000) has
been expensed to administrative expenses. No depreciation has been
expensed to cost of goods sold (2016: same).

If buildings were stated on the historical cost basis, the amounts would
be as follows:

14 W% -BERRE (B

i 6 .53 B 5 8 8 B 3 3% 451,000 72 (=
T — N4 155,000 7T ) R 1T BB X X 6
4,764,000 7T ( = F — /N : 4,635,000/
TE) o MM A Y 8 (— B — A A
R) -

B F I IRE L AT R RSB T

2017 2016
—E—tH ZE—REF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FHTT

Cost AR 38,579 36,007
Accumulated depreciation 25 TE (17,949) (15,134)
Net book amount SR FE 20,630 20,873

The Group’s properties were revalued at 31 December 2017 by Vigers
Appraisal and Consulting Limited, an independent professionally
qualified valuer who holds a recognised relevant professional
qualification and has recent experience in the locations and segments
of the properties valued. For all buildings, their current use equates to
the highest and best use.

The Group’s finance department includes a team that review the
valuations performed by the independent valuer for financial reporting
purposes. This team reports directly to the board of directors.
Discussions of valuation processes and results are held between the
valuation team and valuer annually.

The revaluation surplus net of applicable deferred income taxes was
credited to fixed assets revaluation reserve in shareholders’ equity.

Valuations were made with reference to depreciated replacement cost
approach based on significant unobservable inputs.

AEBZYMEER_TE—tFE+RA=+—
BB B 25 KRG BAR BT 8 ERT A
BERARAREHGE  ZHEMFFERD
ZABEEEER - BH P EYE 2 hE R E
BBEARHER - BRMERTME  EAlZ
EREREERR&EER-

REEGHRE B ERRE B RS
B B T B 8 2 (7T 4 o /N
ERAEEGER - HE/MARGEASE
HEEREMEEAR

EfESMRERELEREHR It ABRE
smPZEEEEEGRRE-

HEDZERERERAE  HRBEERTA
BREzZBABRMEL-
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14 PROPERTIES, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

The following table analyses the buildings carried at fair value, by

valuation method.

14 W% -BWERRE (&)

TRAGEZEDITRAAREIRZET -

Fair value measurements at
31 December 2017 using
R=-FT—t&HE+=-A=+—HZ

AREHEFRAZESR
Quoted prices Significant
in active arkets other Significant
for identical observable unobservable
assets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
HESER HoESXTHE EXAOHE
R|ERTIHZ ZEANER ZEHNEE
HE(E—HR) (E=4R) (E=8)
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T FHET THET
Recurring fair value measurements BEHEAREFE
- Offices and factory buildings held in ~ — R EAEEF 2
Mainland China MAERBEEFT - - 44,525

Fair value measurements at
31 December 2016 using
RZEBE-—RE+ZA=+—BZ

AREAERAZER

Quoted prices Significant
in active markets other Significant
for identical observable unobservable
assets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
HEEER HMEBRAIHR BBARAIE
RRERTIS 2 ZEAER ZEAEHE
WwE(F—R) (B=#%) (B=%)
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FHET FHET
Recurring fair value measurements KEERAREFE
- Offices and factory buildings held in ~ —RFBE KEHEF 2
Mainland China MAERBEEF - - 42,556

/] 20 Carry Wealth Holdings Limited 1E E 1R AR X T
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14 PROPERTIES, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

The recurring fair value measurements for buildings are included in
level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. The Group’s policy is to recognise
transfers into and transfers out of fair value hierarchy levels as of the
date of the event or change in circumstances that caused the transfer.
There were no transfers between Levels 1, 2 and 3 during the year.

The movement of buildings stated at fair value using significant

unobservable inputs (level 3) is as follows:

14 W% -BERRE (B

BFIEEEAAEAEREERAAES
ME=M2AN - AEERRSNERER =
HEEXBERABCER HRAHAAESZRZ
BARER - FAE—R F_AREF=HZ
i I 488 8 ¢ o

BERBATABE AR (F=F) &
BZRAREREFZETEHNT

Buildings
g5

2017 2016
—E—tF ZE—RF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
At 1 January w—HA—8 42,556 47,229
Depreciation mwe (3,503) (3,521)
Net gains from fair value adjustment RABERBEEE 2 F NS 4,097 669
Currency translation differences T N Z58 1,375 (1,821)
At 31 December ®R+=—A=+—8 44,525 42,556

In other comprehensive income, fair value gain of properties, plant and

equipment, net of tax comprise:

REMEEBAR WE BEERBE2ZAL
Bl MERBIBELE:

2017 2016

—E—tF T —RF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FTHET FHET

Net gains from fair value adjustment AAERABELE 2 Fha 4,097 669

Deferred tax (Note 23) EIEFTIS B (KizE23) (1,025) (167)
Total fair value gains for the year included in other s AEMEEWRA ZFERARE

comprehensive income, net of tax @I Es - BRI 3,072 502
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14 PROPERTIES, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

The details of significant unobservable inputs are as follows:

Unobservable inputs

FEBRZHAEH FUBRRZHBAERZEE

Range of unobservable inputs

14 W% -BERRE (B

BEATABRZHAZR 2 HENT -

Relationship of unobservable
inputs to fair value

TUBRZBANEHEAREZHR

Construction costs per square meter

(steel structure/reinforced concrete concrete structure
structure) and taking into account

market data on current construction

costs for similar properties located in

nearby cities

T HKBRER A MEB BT FEHKAREL 70T
M ERLERATTEHIRAR
—REEFEBER (AR R #1,3507T
TR Wit RAIR AT 2 B
EBATEEKA ZTHEER

Economic life of buildings

— Taking into account the estimated
useful life of buildings depending on
the building structure
(steel structure/reinforced concrete
structure)

BFZEBES®

504

— s RBREREFEEER (e 5

SRR T AR TR EATS

There were no changes to the valuation techniques during the year.
Certain buildings with carrying amounts of HK$23,441,000 (2016:

Nil) were used to secure for the Group’s bank borrowing as at 31
December 2017 (Note 25).

/] 22 Carry Wealth Holdings Limited 1E E 1R AR X T

RMB1,170 per square meter for
steel structure and RMB1,350
— Based on the type of building structure per square meter for reinforced

40 for steel structure and 50 years
for reinforced concrete structure

MEBRIAF MY ERLEBR

The higher the construction cost per
square meter, the higher the fair value

BYDARERAYES  AREES

The longer the useful life, the higher the
fair value

EAFHER ARERS

FRMEXMELS) -

MR-ZT—+E+-A=+—R0 ETEEES
23,441,000 T (ZEBE— R NF : E)NEFR
BEREEBITERMIKFR (HE25) -
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15 INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE

On 23 June 2017, the Group entered into agreement to subscribe
6,480,000 new shares, approximately 41.48% equity interest in United
Security Solutions International Limited (“‘USS”) with a consideration
of US$6,480,000 (approximately HK$50,544,000). Heading to the
new business focus and related requirement, the Group has signed a
supplemental share subscription agreement to subscribe 4,101,615
shares, representing 41.45% equity interest in USS at a consideration
US$4,101,615 (approximately HK$31,992,000). Such acquisition was
financed by internal resources.

15 R—EBELEZRE

R-ZE—+EXNA-+=0 XEBEETL
1% 3% LA X (86,480,000 7T ( #4950,544,0005%
TL) REBMEBABEBRREREEEGRAR ([#4
FEEES |) 4941.48% I8 A RERS - RIRFTR XIS
BRREBER AEEEEESH ARG K
EE AR E4,101,6153% 7T (431,992,000
B IT) REE4,101,6150 B {0 - (h 44 B B &
41.45% 2 B% 2N 3% o 15 UK AR A R 2B B R B 4t

2017

—E—tE

HK$’000

T#ERT

As at 1 January R—HA—H -
Acquisition g 31,993
Share of loss NEEE (5,723)
Currency translation difference fE X =% (205)
As at 31 December R+=ZRA=+—H 26,065
Investment in an associate at 31 December 2017 included goodwill of RZZE—+tF+_A=+—HR—EBELE

HK$5,850,000 (2016: Nil). & 8RR /5,850,000 7T (ZF— X

Details of the Group’s investment in an associate is as follows: SER—FEBMECEZREFINWOT

Country of % of ownership Measurement
Name of entity Principal activities incorporation interest method
TEZHE FEE &E M B 37 b B HEmESL FEHE
Shares held indirectly:
BiERAZER:
United Security Solutions Provision of global risk Hong Kong 41.45 Equity
International Limited management solutions
HEBEERRREEGRAR RH2KEREERS e A
Prescient Consulting DMCC Provision of global risk United Arab 41.45 Equity
management solutions Emirates
R 2 IRE R E B RS BB R & 2 R L b
Milcom Resources (Malta) Limited Investment holding Malta 41.45 Equity
RE =R 5 H A R
Unity Resources Group Pte Ltd Provision of global risk Singapore 33.16 Equity
management solutions
1Rt 2 IR b B 2R AR 7S BN B wE

o)

HRZBECXALEE
FREYHR(E -

As the associate is a private entity, there is no quoted price available. 2 - Pk N A fr] AT

]
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15 INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)

Set out below are the summarised financial information of an associate

15 R—EBEERZRE (])
RS AANR AR ECE I HENBE

which is accounted for using equity method. BT
Summarised balance sheet RESEARRER
2017
—ET—tF
HK$’000
THET
Current b4 )
Cash and cash equivalents Re kAL EEEE 9,073
Current assets (excluding cash RBEE (TEERERAESEEIER)
and cash equivalents) 31,755
Total current assets RN E E 40,828
Current liabilities mEN B & (42,910)
Non-current FERE
Assets BE 64,993
Liabilities =L (5,489)
Total identifiable net assets AR FEERRE 57,422
Non-controlling interests FE2 il M 2 (8,652)
48,770
Summarised statement of comprehensive income HEZABMANERFE
2017
—E—tF
HK$’000
FHET
Revenue g 76,146
Depreciation e (5,471)
Expenses 53 (84,481)
Loss for the period HANEE (13,806)
Other comprehensive income HMama A -
Total loss for the period 4B ER N jE5 18 (13,806)
Attributable to: EEN
— the Group —AEHE (13,367)
- non-controlling interest — I (439)
(13,806)
There were no commitment and contingent liabilities relating to the RZE—+tF+_A=+—HB FEBR—H

Group’s interest in an associate as at 31 December 2017.
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15 INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued) 156 R—EBELEZRE (&)
Set out below are the summarised financial information of an associate BREDEAR, BBECECHENBE
which is accounted for using equity method. (Continued) BT (8)
Reconciliation of summarised financial information REMBER Z AL
2017
—ET—tF
HK$’000
FHET
Opening net assets as at acquisition date RUHE B 2 BRI S & B 68,890
Non-controlling interest S I 14 2 (9,091)
Opening net assets acquired as at RUEER 2 ERERYVFEE
acquisition date 59,799
Loss for the period attributable to the Group SRERASEZ BHNEE (13,367)
Other comprehensive income Hip2mUA 2,338
Closing net assets HRFEE 48,770
Interest in an associate @ 41.45% R—HEBEDEER @ 41.45% 20,215
Goodwill EES 5,850
Carrying value BREE 26,065
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16 INVESTMENT IN A JOINT VENTURE

On 19 February 2016, the Group entered into an agreement to acquire
27.5% equity interest in Phoenix Cloud (Beijing) Technologies Company
Limited (“Phoenix Cloud”)*, a Company established in Mainland China,
for a consideration of RMB22,000,000 (approximately HK$25,581,000)
using internal resources. Prior to the completion of the acquisition,
Phoenix Cloud raised additional capital from certain investors resulting
in the Group’s final acquired equity interest decreasing to 24.75% upon

completion on 19 May 2016.

Notes to the Financial Statements B %% ¥ 3% ffi =

16 R—RBEEEEZRE

R-ZZT—RNRE-_Ft+hB - AEEETYH
FEUAPEIR - KREAR22,000,0007T (49
25,581,00078 7T ) W B A 32 7 R B K B 2 [BLEL
E(MGRIBRERNERAR (TBEAE])Z
27 5% MR AR - B BIEFEAK AT - BLEAZ A
ETREEESEHIINER AEBR=_ZT—X
FERH AN B TR &R U S RE SR
=24.75% ©

-

2017 2016
—F—+tEF —E—X

HK$’000 HK$’000

F#ERT F& T

At 1 January Rn—HA—H 20,978 =
Addition #hn - 25,581
Share of loss D EE (5,331) (3,628)
Impairment AR (15,647) -
Currency translation differences fE X =% - (975)
At 31 December R+=—A=+—H - 20,978

Details of the Group’s joint venture as at 31 December 2017 are as

R-ZB—t+tF+-_A=+—HAKEHZE¥E

follows: ST :

Place of business/ % of ownership Measurement
Name of entity country of incorporation Principal activities interest method
TtEZHE BB EMBIIE EEER EEZES FFEFE
Shares held indirectly:
GESSEchd %
Phoenix Cloud (Beijing) People’s Republic of Sale and development 24.75 Equity

Technologies Company Limited* China, limited liability of smart card
by share company application products
in Mainland China

BEZE (ER)BMEROBERAR HEARAME: R B KEREHE & A

B in BIR A A

For identification purpose

As the joint venture is a private entity, there is no quoted price

available.
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16 INVESTMENT IN A JOINT VENTURE (Continued) 16 R—EESBLEZRE(E)

BEDEARZ —RAELEZHMEMBE

Set out below are the summarised financial information of a joint

venture which is accounted for using equity method. B
Summarised balance sheet RESEAER
2017 2016
—E—tHF ZE—RF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Current HE
Cash and cash equivalents RekFE&EEIEE 903 2,128
Current assets nBEE (TEEReR
(excluding cash and cash equivalents) ReEEHER) 9,280 26,628
Total current assets BREEE 10,183 28,756
Current liabilities mEAaE (11,488) (8,998)
Non-current FEFRE
Assets BE 145 699
Net (liabilities)/assets F(aE)BE (1,160) 20,457
Summarised statement of comprehensive income BEHZESWBMANER
2017 2016
—F—tHF —EF—X
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Revenue L& 4,053 9,402
Depreciation e (126) (171)
Expenses f > (25,465) (32,996)
Loss for the year FEEE (21,538) (283,765)
Other comprehensive (loss)/income Hivkra (E18) IRA (79) 2,537
Total loss for the year REFEEE (21,617) (21,228)
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16 INVESTMENT IN A JOINT VENTURE (Continued) 16 R—EESBLEZRE(E)

There were no commitment and contingent liabilities relating to the
Group’s interests in a joint venture as at 31 December 2017.

R-ZE—+tF+_A=1+—8 A£EN—H
BELEZREYEAERKARBGE-

Reconciliation of summarised financial information REMBER Z AL
2017 2016
—E—+tF ZE—RF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THERT FH T
Opening net assets as at acquisition date RUHE B 2 BRI S & B 20,457 32,578
Loss for the year/period FE/HWRNEBER (21,538) (14,658)
Other comprehensive (loss)/income Hiv2mE (E18) A (79) 2,537
Closing net (liabilities)/assets HARF(AE) BE (1,160) 20,457
Interest in a joint venture @ 24.75% R—EEEtEER @ 24.75% (287) 5,063
Goodwill mE 17,935 16,740
Currency translation difference &+ ZE58 (2,001) (825)
Impairment VERIE] (15,647) =
Carrying value BREE - 20,978

17 LAND USE RIGHTS 17 T (EFH#E

The Group’s land use rights represent prepaid operating lease
payments and their net book values are analysed as follows:

REEZ T E AERRBMNELHENREA
HEREFEINAOT :

2017 2016

Bt —E—RF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET F& T

Balance as at 1 January R—A—Hz#&&#% 12,849 14,358
Amortisation of prepaid operating lease payments  #$4 78 - & & 2 & 0B (309) (330)
Disposal of a land use right & 1 A (3,384) =
Currency translation differences PN Z8E 725 (1,179)
Balance as at 31 December R+-—B=+—H2z#&% 9,881 12,849

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group has disposed
a land use right located in Mainland China with a carrying amount of
HK$3,384,000 to the Mainland China government with proceed of
HK$7,069,000, resulting in a gain on disposal of a land use right of
HK$3,685,000 (Note 6).

Certain land use right with carrying amount of HK$5,799,000 (2016:

Nil) was used to secure the Group’s bank borrowing as at 31
December 2017 (Note 25).

1 28 Carry Wealth Holdings Limited 1E E 1R E R X T
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18 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 18 KRERZE&M IR
The Group holds the following financial instruments: AEERFBEUTEHIA:
Financial
Financial assets at
asset at fair value
amortised through Total
cost profit or loss
R BARE
BRAFIERZ stANEHRZ
SREE SREE st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET FET
Financial assets SREE
At 31 December 2017 R-T—tFE+=-A=+—H
Trade and other receivables excluding KBENKEZES K
prepayments H b fE YR IR 62,180 - 62,180
Financial assets at fair value through RARBERAEREZ
profit or loss EREE - 3,518 3,518
Cash and cash equivalents RekRE&EEEE 67,456 - 67,456
129,636 3,618 133,154

At 31 December 2016 RZE—RF+=-—A=+—H
Trade and other receivables excluding KBEMNREZEZE S X

prepayments H b B IR 27,866 - 27,866

Financial assets at fair value through BARBERABREZ
profit or loss TRLEE - 108,242 108,242
Cash and cash equivalents RekBEEEEE 21,534 = 21,534
49,400 108,242 157,642
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18 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY
(Continued)

18 HEMZEMTI A (&

Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost
R
RAFIERZ
=R
HK$’000
THET
Financial liabilities ERIEE

At 31 December 2017 R-¥—tE+=-H=+—H
Trade and other payables B REMEMNKE 59,838
Borrowing BXR 5,952
65,790

At 31 December 2016 RZZE—RF+=ZA=+—H
Trade and other payables B 5 & H th fE{F 5118 29,450

19 INVENTORIES 19 &E

2017 2016
—F—tHF ZE—RF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHT
Raw materials B 12,607 2,957
Work in progress F BUAY 25,706 17,289
Finished goods UK 11,947 4,881
50,260 25,127

The cost of inventories recognised as expenses and included in cost
of goods sold amounted approximately HK$120,556,000 (2016:
HK$60,587,000).

1 SO Carry Wealth Holdings Limited 1B E 1R E R X T

BRABHASI KA AHERAZFERANS
120,556,000/ 7T ( = F — /X % : 60,587,000
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20 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 20 E5 R H b FEWFRIE
2017 2016
—E-t% —E-RE

Current  Non-current Total Current Non-current Total

wE kiRE @it Yok E k) @it

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000

THET TER THET AT THT FHET

Trade receivables 2 5 e IE 42,142 - 42,142 22,664 = 22,664

Other receivables H fib B W GRIE 7,839 - 7,839 4,097 - 4,097

Other loan HaER - 11,423 11,423 = = =

Deposits BE 121 655 776 450 655 1,105
Financial assets at 8 8K AR B AR

amortised cost LEMEE 7,960 12,078 20,038 4,547 655 5,202

Prepayments TERIE 1,975 3,328 5,303 1,446 = 1,446

Total trade and other B 5 & H e U

receivables IR 52,077 15,406 67,483 28,657 655 29,312
Due to the short-term nature of the current receivables, their carrying mEBERFERBEEAME  MAREERR
amounts is considered to be the same as their fair values. For the non- RERE - FRBEEZARERREKEES
current deposits, the fair values are also not significantly different to ERTK

their carrying amounts.

Majority of the Group’s trade receivable are with credit terms ranging ARERBHE S EEKBEZEEHRNF30

from 30 to 60 days. The ageing of trade receivables based on invoice Z60R -EHEUKBRERBHZRED
date, is as follows: VRSN

2017 2016

—E—tf —E-REF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FATT

Within 30 days 308 A 28,284 21,428

31-60 days 31-60H 10,233 1,214

61-90 days 61-90H 2,848 22

Over 90 days B @90 H 777 =

42,142 22,664
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20 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The ageing of trade receivables past due but not considered to be
impaired is shown below. These past due receivables relate to a
number of independent customers for whom there is no recent history
of default.

20 B RHMEWRIE (48

EaHERESERELE S EEFRKER
T et E B AMEUGRIEY R Z @B LT
P B BN B R GRAD 8% -

2017 2016

—F—+tHF S-S

HK$’000 HK$'000

THERT FH T

Within 30 days 30K 10,048 1,214
31-60 days 31-60H 3,338 22
61-90 days 61-90H 34 -
13,420 1,236

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was the
carrying amount of trade receivables mentioned above. The Group did
not hold any collateral as security.

The other receivables generally arise from transactions outside the
usual operating activities of the Group. Collateral is not obtained.

The other loan represented loan to a shareholder of an associate
company. The loan is interest bearing at 8% per annum and will be
fully repaid in 2019. The carrying amount of the loan was denominated
in US$ and approximated to its fair value. The loan was secured by
the charge of equity interest of the associate company amounted
approximately US$2,948,000 (approximately HK$22,846,000).

The carrying amounts of the trade and other receivables excluding
prepayments were denominated in the following currencies:

REBERzEsSEERRR LME SRR
IR 7 BRTEE © 7N 5 B30 45 A (R ARt
HR o

£ 4t B MR IE — AR R AR B B AR R B
A5h 2 % 5 - ARG A RIS -

HhEREY —MHEcERRZER
I B R IE F I R8%T 8 0 W 20195 2 58
Bi% - th B 2 BREE T AE TTAE RBER
HRAARE B HE 2D ¥42,048,000% 7T
(#922,846,000/8 70 ) 2 BE fE#E 25 EIE 48 -

BRIEAN FRIA 2 B 5 e W I H i e M 5R0R 2 BR
EET AT I BEIE

2017 2016
—E—+tHF —E—RE

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FHET FHE T

HK$ B 2,049 1,104
RMB AR 6,445 3,545
uss$ Y 53,686 22,562
62,180 27,211

/I 82 Carry Wealth Holdings Limited 1E E 1R E R X T




Notes to the Financial Statements B %% ¥ 3% ffi 5

21 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

PROFIT OR LOSS

21

BRAREFAERIRZEMEE

2017 2016

—E—tHF —ZE—XF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHT FHET

Hong Kong listed equity securities REB LT ZRAFS 3,518 108,242

Changes in fair values of financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss are recorded in “revenue” in the consolidated income statement

with gains of HK$15,044,000 (2016: loss of HK$11,715,000).

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are presented within
“operating activities” as part of changes in working capital in the

consolidated cash flows statement (Note 28).

The fair values of all equity securities are based on their current bid
prices in an active market and the Group are exposed to price risk

BEARBEFABSEEZERMEEZAR
BEY Vit AGRERATRE 2 [HE
#15,044,0008 T2 Wem (ZF — R F:
11,715,000 C 2 E518) °

BRARBFABREZEMEER [KLE
B ARY EAESAEBRNEEESE
2 —&b1n (FzE28) °

FIEBRARE S 2 AAEG AR B R RO5 2
Mg BEAERE AL E R @ ERRERR

(Note 3). (FF7E3) °
22 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 22 H&RIELEEIEH
2017 2016
—F—+tHF —T—RF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FHET
Cash at banks and in hand RITEFHERAS 67,456 21,534

The Group’s bank balances of HK$3,598,000 (2016: HK$3,920,000)
were deposited with banks in the Mainland China. The remittance
of these funds out of the Mainland China is subject to the exchange

control restrictions imposed by the Mainland China government.

ANEE 2 SRTHE#R3,608,0008 7L (—F — X
4 : 3,920,000 L) B 7 AR B K B 7 3R
17 ° 151k 5 & S I8 W o B KB ZR 2 Bl B K BE
BT B e 2 SN BEE B 2 BT AR A6
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22 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Continued)

The carrying amount of the cash and cash equivalents were

denominated in the following currencies:

22 HERBLFEEE (F)

RekReEEBEZREABETLATIER
FIME :

2017 2016

—F—+tEF —E—RF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FHT

HK$ BT 49,639 6,119
RMB AR 3,598 3,920
uss$ ETT 14,161 11,425
Others Hi 58 70
67,456 21,534

23 DEFERRED INCOME TAX

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when the deferred income taxes relate to the same fiscal
authority. As of 31 December 2017 and 2016, no deferred income tax

assets and liabilities were offset.

23 RIERTIFHL

ERAEAHTEMNSE IR AEEREH
BIEAEERHE BREMSHSERA TR
e AIRSREEMSHREER ABERE -1
TR AFERCE-RF+-A=+—8"
VEKEREMEHREERAGE-

2017 2016

—E—tHE —E—RF

HK$’000 HK$’000

F#ET F& T

Deferred income tax liabilities BEMEHAE 8,319 7,294
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23 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued)

The movement in deferred income tax liabilities during the year is as

23 BEFTFH (&

FRZEERMBHRAREESHMT

follows:
Fair value
gains of
buildings
BFz
A S EW
HK$’°000
FHET
Balance as at 1 January 2016 RZTE—REF—A—HZ&H 7,127
Debited to equity P 25 HIBR 167
At 31 December 2016 RZE—R"FE+=-A=+—H 7,294
Balance as at 1 January 2017 RZE—tF—A—B2&#% 7,294
Debited to equity R R 1,025

At 31 December 2017 R=ZZT—tF+=-A=+—H 8,319

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax loss carry-
forwards to the extent that realisation of the related tax benefit
through the future taxable profits is probable. The Group did not
recognise deferred income tax assets of HK$26,778,000 (2016:
HK$37,150,000) in respect of losses amounting to HK$131,371,000
(2016: HK$182,894,000) that can be carried forward against future
taxable income because their utilisation is not considered probable.
Cumulative tax losses of HK$71,348,000 (2016: HK$100,860,000)
can be carried forward indefinitely while tax losses of HK$60,023,000
(2016: HK$82,034,000) will expire as follows:

BEMBREEESN BB IHRBERNSHA
BEBBARERFEFEER AR E
EIEER- ARRAETA I HELHMEH
BE ASBEIWERER P KX131,371,000% 7T
(ZZ—754 : 182,894,000/ 7T ) 7 E18 7 ik
WE RSB E26,778,000/8 T (Z B — N4 :

37,150,000 7T ) « B nj gtz A LA A 1%
FE R B U A - 25T FY IE B 1871,348,000/% 7T
(== — 734 100,860,000/ 7t ) A £ R HA
=8 R IE E51860,023,000/8 7T (—ZT— X
4 : 82,034,000/ 70 ) # LA T FE R E 8 :

2017 2016
—F—tF —F—NEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET F& T

Expiring in AT & E A 2 ER
2017 —E—tF - 22,555
2018 —E—N\F 7,612 7,908
2019 —T-NF 7,403 7,231
2020 —ZE_FF 23,469 22,923
2021 B 21,539 21,417
Total mEt 60,023 82,034
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24 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

24 B REMEMSRIE

2017 2016

—E—tHF e AS

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET T T

Trade payables 2 5 HIA 39,550 15,596
Consideration payable for acquisition FEfT Uk — R AR RE

of an associate 1,004 -

Accruals st & A 13,220 5,011

Other payables H < 3B 6,064 8,843

59,838 29,450

Trade payables are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of
recognition.

The ageing of the trade payables, based on invoice date, was as

85 RN FOAR BRI BERERIEZ308

AT e

BHRNFBREZARZRENT

follows:
2017 2016
—E—tF —E—RF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Within 30 days 30HIA 23,063 5,560
31-60 days 31-60H 14,000 9,784
61-90 days 61-90H 1,369 233
Over 90 days @90 H 1,118 19
39,550 15,596

Trade and other payables were denominated in the following

B o REMENKIATIATIIEEFIE :

currencies:
2017 2016
—E—tF —ZE—RF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
HK$ BT 2,583 2,539
RMB AR 54,437 26,700
uss$ ETT 2,818 211
59,838 29,450

The carrying amounts of trade and other payables approximated their
fair values due to their short term nature.
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25 BORROWING 25 B®
2017 2016
—E—tHF ZE—REF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Current Vi
Bank loan - secured RITER-BER 5,952 =
The bank loan was repayable within one year. The weighted average BITEREAR—FREE-BHE_T—+tF
interest rate during 31 December 2017 was 7.5% (2016: Nil). As at 31 TZA=ZT—RLEFE MEFARNER
December 2017, the borrowing was secured by the certain buildings 75% (ZF—R"F 8) RZT—tF+=
and land use right with carrying amounts of HK$23,441,000 (2016: Nil) A E-I—— B9 RIABREE /23,441,000
(Note 14) and HK$5,799,000 (2016: Nil) (Note 17) respectively. BIL(ZT—NF &) (HaF14) 2 BHE
:11&5,799,000/%71:(—? INEE ?ﬁ) (Bﬁuf
17) 2 T fF RiEE AR -
As at 31 December 2017, the Group has available unutilised banking RZF—+tF+_A=+—HB A&EBHAA
facility of approximately HK$5,952,000 (2016: Nil). FHRTT R E 58495,952,000/8 7L (=T — /X
Fom) e
The carrying amount of the borrowing at 31 December 2017 was RZF—+tF+—A=+—H BEXRZEEE
denominated in RMB and approximated to its fair value. ELA/\EM’?‘HE&EEE MBS °
26 SHARE CAPITAL 26 &
2017 2016 2017 2016
—F-tf ZE-RF —T—tf ZE-RF
Number Number Share Share
of shares of shares capital capital
B8 E R & B (2N (&N
(Thousands) (Thousands) HK$’000 HK$’'000
(Fh%) (FAR) FHET FHET
Ordinary shares %ﬁﬁ&‘
At 1 January and 31 December R—A—BRTZA=+—H 818,042 818,042 81,804 81,804
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27 OTHER RESERVES 27 Hivfkim
Fixed
Exchange assets
Share translation revaluation Merger
premium reserve reserve reserve Total
TEE
B4 ida (8 ERfEE Bk i gt
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TET THERT TET THERT TERT
As at 1 January 2016 W-B—XxFE—H—H 217,761 (33,042) 21,382 (200) 205,901
Other comprehensive income Hip2mE KA
Fair value changes, net of tax ~ AREZE)  HIKRFIE - - 502 - 502
Currency translation differences  # & /§ 9MNf B A A
arising on the translation of M RREEZELESE
the financial statements of
overseas subsidiaries — (3,218) - - (3,218)
Total other comprehensive Hihz2®E (EE) RARE
(loss)/income = (3,218) 502 = (2,716)
At 31 December 2016 R-E—AF+=-A=+—8 217,761 (36,260) 21,884 (200) 203,185
As at 1 January 2017 R-ZE—tF—HA—H 217,761 (36,260) 21,884 (200) 203,185
Other comprehensive income Hi2EKA
Fair value changes, net of tax ~ AREZE  HKFHE - - 3,072 - 3,072
Currency translation differences  #& /5 5MNii B A A
arising on the translation of MBRRELACEREZR
the financial statements of
overseas subsidiaries - 1,135 - - 1,135
Total other comprehensive Hih 2K A BT
income - 1,135 3,072 - 4,207
At 31 December 2017 R-E—+F+=-A=+—8 217,761 (35,125) 24,956 (200) 207,392




28 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW

Notes to the Financial Statements B %% ¥ 3% ffi 5

28 ZEHERERME

STATEMENT
Reconciliation of loss before income tax to net cash generated from/ BRETERAIBRESCEEE (FMA)Z2RE
(used in) operations is as follows: FERZ HERIAT
2017 2016
Bt T —RF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FBT
Loss before income tax BRATS TR EE (29,956) (48,866)
Depreciation of properties, M- BEREZETE
plant and equipment 4,815 4,690
Losses on disposal of properties, HEWE - BFEREHZER
plant and equipment 104 42
Gain on disposal of a land use right HE T AR 2 s (3,685) =
Amortisation of land use rights =+ 3t 5 AR R 8 309 330
Share of result of an associate i — B E R E 2 EE 5,723 =
Share of result of a joint venture AE—HEEEREZEIE 5,331 3,628
Impairment on investment in a joint venture R—EEErEZRERE 15,647 =
Finance income BB YA (44) (108)
Finance expense mERX 175 -
(1,581) (40,284)
Changes in working capital: BEESEH:
Inventories T8 (25,133) (2,542)
Trade and other receivables g 5 & E e 508 (26,748) (18,933)
Trade and other payables B 5 & E M FRIE 30,388 4,618
Financial assets at fair value BEARBEABREZ
through profit or loss EREE 104,724 13,397
Net cash generated from/(used in) operations KEEE /(TR 2RSS FE 81,650 (38,744)

In the consolidated cash flow statement, proceeds from sale of REZEHERBRA - HEWME WERFZHE
properties, plant and equipment comprise: BiE:
2017 2016
—E—t#= —E—RF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FHET
Net book amount (Note 14) BREVFE (MizE14) 121 53
Losses on disposal of properties, HEME BERZBZEE
plant and equipment (104) (42)
Proceeds from disposal of properties, HEWE  BFE REEEHRIE
plant and equipment 17 11
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28 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW 28 ZFRAANERMEE (8)
STATEMENT (Continued)

In the consolidated cash flow statement, proceed from disposal of a E’\\,ﬁ?/:.\fﬁﬁ/mﬁii}i'%?ﬂ CHE T EBEATER
land use right comprise: HEHE
2017 2016
Bt T —RF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Net book amount (Note 17) BREDFE (KIEE17) 3,384 -
Gain on disposal of a land use right B R A 2 s 3,685 =
Proceed from disposal of a land use right o i {5 A A AT S BRIE 7,069 =
Net debt reconciliation: RETERE
This section sets out the reconciliation of liability from financing activity REHEFMERNSFEREETDELEZE
for each of the years presented. ERAER -
Borrowing
B
HK$’000
FHET
As at 1 January 2016, 31 December 2016 E(\\:ef ~NEFE—RA—H:
and 1 January 2017 = /\¢+ A=+—HBk=ZT—tF—H—H -
Proceed from bank borrowing fEﬂ%fﬁ(ﬁﬁ’E’ E 5,952
As at 31 December 2017 R—ZE—+tF+_-_A=+—H 5,952
29 COMMITMENTS 29 FHiE
Capital Commitments BEXRRIE
Capital commitments at the balance sheet date but not yet incurred as REZBERRESE 2 EREENT
follows:
2017 2016
—E—t#E —TE—RF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Properties, plant and equipment ME - BWE KRE 3,491 -
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29 COMMITMENTS (Continued)

30

Commitments under operating leases

The Group had future aggregate minimum lease payments for buildings
and motor vehicles under non-cancellable operating leases as follows:

29 %iE (&
EERERR

AEEREBETARELEHEEN AR KK
BFRABINZHEHEFRERNT

2017 2016

Bt —ZE—RF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET TET

Not later than one year —FR 2,779 3,749
Later than one year and not later than five years —FHRETERAT 740 3,347
3,519 7,096

SUBSIDIARIES

The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries at 31 December

2017:

Name of entity

Place of
incorporation and
kind of legal entity

30. it B 2 5

MEBARWT :

Principal
activities and place
of operation

Particulars of
issued share capital

ARAR=F—tF+=A=+—AZZE

Percentage of
interest held

o AR 3 3tk B % TEEBR
EEEZE HERERER EEES EBTRAEH Pt E bt
Shares held directly:
BERERND -
Topwell Group Development British Virgin Islands, Investment holding in 1,000 ordinary shares 100
Ltd. limited liability company Hong Kong of US$1 each
EBELEE ARRQA REBETREER 1,000 GREE 17T 2
&k
Shares held indirectly:
R A RN -
Carry Wealth Limited Hong Kong, Provision of management 4,000,000 100
limited liability company services and investment ordinary shares
holding in Hong Kong
AR A EA BRAR REBRBEERRE R 4,000,000/% 2 & 18 %
REZER
Dragon Insight Investments Hong Kong, Securities trading in 1 ordinary share 100
Limited limited liability company Hong Kong
ALREBRAR & BRAF REBETESRR S 10% 2 & B
Hillwealth International Hong Kong, Garment trading and 1 ordinary share 100
Limited limited liability company marketing in Hong Kong
BnBRERAT EA BRAH REBETKKE 5K 10% 2 & Bk
5 1
Mass Wealth Investments Hong Kong, Investment holding in 1 ordinary share 100

Limited
W REEFRAA

limited liability company
EA BRAA

Hong Kong
REBETREER

12 & B
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30 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 30 FBAT (&)
Place of Principal
incorporation and activities and place Particulars of Percentage of
Name of entity kind of legal entity of operation issued share capital interest held
& 1M Bk 37 3 25 % ETEEBR
b¥EZE ERERER EEBE EEITRAEH FisERE D
BLEERKERRAH People’s Republic of China, Manufacture of US$14,700,000 100
(Heshan Carry Wealth Garment limited liability company knit products in
Limited) Mainland China

HEARKMBE BRAF RPBEAEEESGRE 14,700,000% 7T

B CRYNIBEHAFRAT  People’s Republic of China,  Provision of consultation RMBS5,000,000 100
(Heng Feng (Shenzhen) limited liability company service in Mainland China

Investment Consulting
Company Limited*)
REARAME - ARAR KRB AEREERKRS 5,000,000 R

* For identification purpose * {EHER

Cash and short-term deposits held in Asian countries (including China) DHNBEREBETFE)REE R RERERE
are subject to local exchange control regulations. These regulations B HhHNE B AR TE FTBR ] o 35 L 3R e PR Il T 4
provide for restrictions on exporting capital from those countries, other MLERGLHEAR MTAZBBEERE -

than through normal dividends.

31 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 31 FELRXS
(@) As at 31 December 2017 and 2016, 404,944,690 shares and @ RZE—CtFR_ZFE—A"F+=A
404,944,690 shares (2017: 49.50%; 2016: 49.50%) of the =+—H:' ZA2R7404,944,6900% %
Company were held by Dragon Peace Limited, which is ultimately 1 %404,944,690 & H (=T —+
owned by Mr. Li Haifeng, a director of the Company. The directors F:49.50% : ZF — /N F :49.50% ) #H
consider Dragon Peace Limited, a company incorporated in Dragon Peace Limited#F & * NA R E =
the British Virgin Islands, to be the Company’s ultimate holding TEMAERREEZAR EERA
company. Dragon Peace Limited (R EBE X H S
MK 2 BRAR) BARA R Z K
/NS
(o) Key management compensation by TEEEAEME

Key management of the Group comprises the executive directors AEBFEEBABEBRASENTES

of the Group. R
2017 2016
—E—t# —E—REF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT

Salaries and other short-term SN & E 2 HAE B R A

employee benefits 4,661 5,495
Contributions to the MPF Scheme RIS EIME R 36 36
4,697 5.3
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32 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF

THE COMPANY

32 AAFREERRAHEEEE

2017 2016
—E—tF ZE—RF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 F#ET FAT
ASSETS &AE
Non-current assets EREIEE
Plant and equipment = R 3% 99 294
Amount due from a subsidiary LNV S 200,345 226,625
200,444 226,919
Current assets RENEE
Other receivables H fib B IR 1,614 1,147
Cash and cash equivalents HekHE£EEEH 1,252 1,137
2,866 2,284
Total assets HEE 203,310 229,203
EQUITY i
Capital and reserves HAEASESFEEARBEZEERGH#

attributable to the &

Company’s equity holders

Share capital & 75 81,804 81,804

Other reserves Hth {1 a 365,455 365,455

Accumulated losses RETEsE (244,815) (219,066)
Total equity R 202,444 228,193
LIABILITIES BfE
Current liabilities RENE &

Other payables and accruals Hfh A RIAKRIERE R 866 1,010
Total liabilities BAaR 866 1,010
Total equity and liabilities BESRER 203,310 229,203

Li Haifeng Wang Ke
FigiE £
Chairman Executive Director
E HITESE

Annual Report 2017 EERE /] 48
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32 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF
THE COMPANY (Continued)

(@) Reserve movement of the Company

32 ZF%EJEEE%%%ZH%HE@@J

(a) FATHRH

i

ol

Share Contributed Total
premium surplus (i)
Bt its & MAEER () st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FTET FET TERT
At 1 January 2016, RZZE—RF-—A—H"
31 December 20186, —2—XRF+=A
1 January 2017 and =+—HB - —ZT—+t#&
31 December 2017 —A—BR=ZZE—tF
+=-—A=+—8H 217,761 147,694 365,455
Note: B 5

(i) The contributed surplus of the Company represents the difference between the
consolidated shareholders’ funds of a subsidiary acquired and the nominal value of
the Company’s shares issued in exchange therefor.
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CARRY WEALTH HOLDINGS LIMITED

EEERFRAT

Suite 2001, 20/F, Shui On Centre, 6-8 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong
BBEBEE6-8HIHTH1201£2001F

Tel E7%:(852) 23108180  Fax {ZE : (852) 2310 8797

Website #831 : www.carrywealth.com
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